
1 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Contact Officer: 
Nicola Gittins 01352 702345 
 
 
 

 
To: Robert Dewey (Chairman) 

Councillors: Patrick Heesom, Paul Johnson and Arnold Woolley 
 
Co-opted Members: 
Jonathan Duggan-Keen, Phillipa Earlam, Julia Hughes and Kenneth Molyneux  
(+ 1 vacancy for a co-opted member) 
 

24 September 2019 
 
Dear Sir/Madam 
 
You are invited to attend a meeting of the Standards Committee which will be held at 
6.30 pm on Monday, 30th September, 2019 in the Caerwys Town Hall, South Street, 
Caerwys CH7 5AL to consider the following items 
 

A G E N D A 
 
 
Please note that a training session will be held from 6pm until 6.30pm to cover 
interests in the Local Development Plan (LDP) 
 
 
1 APOLOGIES  

 Purpose:  To receive any apologies. 
 

2 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST (INCLUDING WHIPPING 
DECLARATIONS)  

 Purpose:  To receive any declarations and advise Members accordingly. 
 

3 MINUTES (Pages 5 - 12) 

 Purpose:  To confirm as a correct record the minutes of the meeting on 
2nd September 2019. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack



2 
 

4 DISPENSATIONS  

 Purpose:  To receive any requests for dispensations. 
 
Members of the press/public will be able to remain in the room 
whilst an application for dispensation is presented to the 
Committee and will be able to return to hear the Committee’s 
decision.  However, under Paragraph 18C Schedule 12A Local 
Government Act 1972 the Committee will exclude the press 
and public from the meeting whilst it deliberates on any 
application for a dispensation. 
 

5 ITEMS RAISED BY TOWN AND COMMUNITY COUNCILS  

 Purpose:  (a) To discuss any ethical issues or the work of the 
Standards Committee raised by Town and Community 
Councils; and 

 
(b) To gauge interest in a training event for new Councillors 

on the Code of Conduct and to seek a volunteer to host. 
 

6 REPORTS FROM INDEPENDENT MEMBER VISITS TO 
TOWN/COMMUNITY COUNCILS  

 Purpose:  To receive a verbal report from independent member of the 
Committee, Rob Dewey, on his visit to Northop Hall 
Community Council on 10th September 2019.  
 

7 FEEDBACK FROM THE INDEPENDENT MEMBERS’ VISITS TO TOWN 
AND COMMUNITY COUNCILS (Pages 13 - 30) 

 Purpose:  To provide an overarching feedback in respect of all the visits 
to Town and Community Councils. 
 

8 THE ROLE OF A COUNCILLOR (Pages 31 - 134) 

 Purpose:  In response to a Member request, to provide information on 
what constitutes work/activities outside the role of a Councillor. 

   

9 FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME (Pages 135 - 138) 

 Purpose:  For the Committee to consider topics to be included on the 
attached Forward Work Programme. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



3 
 

Yours faithfully 
 

 
Robert Robins 

Democratic Services Manager 
 

 
 
 

 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



STANDARDS COMMITTEE 
2 SEPTEMBER 2019 

 
Minutes of the meeting of the Standards Committee of Flintshire County Council held 
at County Hall, Mold on Monday, 2 September 2019. 
 
PRESENT: Rob Dewey (Chairman) 
Councillors: 
Patrick Heesom, Paul Johnson and Arnold Woolley 
 
Co-opted members: 
Julia Hughes and Phillipa Earlam 
 
APOLOGIES:  Jonathan Duggan-Keen and Ken Molyneux 
 
IN ATTENDANCE: 
Monitoring Officer, Deputy Monitoring Officer and Democratic Services Officer 
 
 

17. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST (INCLUDING WHIPPING DECLARATIONS) 
 

None. 
 

18. MINUTES 
 

The minutes of the meeting held on 1 July 2019 were submitted. 
 
Matters Arising 
 
Minute 11: It was agreed that the minutes be amended to reflect that the Chair 

had requested a member of the public to leave the room prior to determination of a 
request for dispensation.  

 
Minute 13, third paragraph : Mrs Julia Hughes asked that the minutes be 

amended to read: “As the Clerk of Flint Town Council had not received feedback from 
the Standards Committee circulated by email”. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That subject to the above amendments, the minutes be approved and signed by the 
Chairman as a correct record. 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



19. DISPENSATIONS 
 

The Monitoring Officer explained that a request for dispensation had been 
received from Councillor Dennis Hutchinson. He referred to a dispensation which had 
been granted to Councillor Hutchinson in March 2019.  He advised that as the new 
application was substantially the same as the previous application, in line with the 
resolution of the Committee in March, he had extended the existing dispensation to 
cover this request.  The terms and expiry date from the original dispensation would not 
change but would now cover planning applications 060160 and 058489. 

  
 

20. REPORTS FROM INDEPENDENT MEMBER VISITS TO TOWN/COMMUNITY 
COUNCILS 
 

The following independent members presented their verbal reports: 
 
Mr. Robert Dewey – Mold Town Council  
Mrs. Julia Hughes - Shotton Town Council 
Mrs Phillipa Earlam – Queensferry Community Council 
 
The Chairman spoke on his positive visit to attend a meeting of Mold Town 

Council.  He explained that business had proceeded at a good pace and was ably 
lead by the Clerk and Chair with opportunity for discussion and questions on matters 
arising without stifling debate.  Officers from the Council had attended and reported 
knowledgeably on business, regeneration, and financial matters.  The meeting was 
conducted in a formal setting which he felt had contributed to the efficient 
atmosphere.  In summary he said that the meeting had been an exemplar of good 
practice.  
 

Mrs Julia Hughes explained that despite best efforts she had to abandon her 
visit to Shotton Town Council on 8 July as she had been unable to locate the venue 
for the meeting.  She also reported that she had encountered difficulty in trying to 
contact the Clerk and obtain information from the website.  She expressed concern 
that due to her experience members of the public might also have difficulty in locating 
and attending meetings of the Town Council.  

 
 Mrs Phillipa Earlam provided feedback on her visit to Queensferry Community 
Council.  She said the meeting had been well chaired and was a positive experience 
overall.  Commenting on the website Mrs. Earlam said only a summary of the agenda 
had been available before the meeting,  however, a copy of the agenda was  
provided to her at the meeting.  During the meeting  a presentation had been given 
on the Enforcement Funding Scheme and an officer from Streetscene was also 
present and reported on progress on outstanding items and new matters affecting 
various areas.   During discussion the Monitoring Officer responded to the queries 
raised by Mrs. Earlam. 
 

The following points were raised which were to be fed back to Town and 
Community Councils:   
 

 an agenda item on Declarations of Interest to be included for all meetings   

Page 6



 accessibility of venue and good use of signage  

 information on the location of meetings and directions should be provided on 
Town/Community Council websites 

 
The Monitoring Officer commented on the need to present an overall report on 

member’s visits to Town and Community Councils at the joint meeting of the 
Standards Committee and Town and Community Councils to be held on 30 
September 2019.   The Monitoring Officer said he would contact Shotton Town 
Council in the meantime to establish the date of the next meeting. 
 

Councillor Paul Johnson suggested that following the feedback provided on 
visits by members  the Town and Community Councils be contacted to ask if it was  
helpful and if any suggestions had been implemented.   
 

The Chair suggested that basic guidance be provided to assist new 
Councillors on procedural matters during Town and Community Council meetings.  
This was supported by Councillor Patrick Heesom. 
 

Mrs Julia Hughes suggested that  a  copy of the Authority’s own guidance on 
the standards of behaviour aspired to might be helpful to Town and Community 
Councils.  She also suggested that guidance be provided to Town and Community 
Councils on the legislative requirements relating to websites. 
 

RESOLVED: 
 
That the verbal reports be received and feedback given to the Town and Community 
Councils. 
 

21. REVIEW OF THE FLINTSHIRE STANDARD 
 

The Monitoring Officer introduced a report to review the expected standards of 
behaviour contained within the Flintshire Standard/Local Resolution Procedure.  He 
provided background information and advised that both Members and Officers had 
wished to review the contents of the Flintshire Standard to expand and clarify the 
guidance within it and restate and reinforce the behaviours expected.  The 
amendments suggested by Officers and Group Leaders to the Standard were as 
detailed in the appendix to the report.   

 
During discussion the following further amendments were suggested by 

members of the Committee: 
 
Page 15: the word ‘Chairman’ to be replaced by ‘Chair’ throughout  
 
Page 15, final bullet point:  wording to  be amended to read ‘Members 

collectively and individually to ensure that officers are treated with respect at public 
meetings within the ward(s)’. 

 
Page 17, paragraph 2:  Councillor Arnold Woolley commented on the need to 

address matters of poor behaviour quickly and expressed concerns about the 12 
months timeframe referred to  The Monitoring Officer responded to the comments 

Page 7



raised and provided clarification on procedures.  Following discussion it was agreed 
that the wording be amended to read ‘This procedure will therefore only apply to 
incidents or behaviour occurring in the 90 days prior to a complaint being made in 
writing to the Monitoring Officer’. 

 
Page 18, paragraph 7: it was suggested that the wording ‘or a nominated 

substitute’ be considered if the Chief Executive was not available to attend a meeting 
 
Page 18, paragraph 8:  the wording be amended to read ‘The purpose of this 

meeting will be to try to resolve the matter by conciliation.  If deemed necessary the 
Chief Executive can call on the Monitoring Officer and/or the Deputy Monitoring Officer 
for advice and assistance’. 

 
Page 18, paragraph 9: the word ‘Standard’ be amended to read ‘Standards’. 
 
The Monitoring Officer advised that the revised document would need to be 

considered by the Constitution & Democratic Services Committee prior to submission 
to Council for approval. 

 
RESOLVED: 
 
That subject to the further amendments detailed above the Flintshire Standard be 
recommended to Council for adoption. 
 

22. STANDARDS COMMITTEE FORUM FOR NORTH AND MID WALES           
 
  The Monitoring Officer introduced a report to provide feedback from the 

Standards Committee Forum for North and Mid Wales.  He provided background 
information and referred to the key issues, as detailed in the report, which should be 
considered by the Committee.  The draft minutes of the meeting of the North Wales 
Standards Committees Forum held on 24 June 2019, were appended to the report. 

 
  The Monitoring Officer referred to the best practice recommendations that were 

potentially relevant from the report of the Committee on Standards in Public Life and 
advised that whilst Council could not change legislation it could adopt the 
recommendations voluntarily where they were not already in effect.  The Committee 
was asked to consider the recommendations as identified in the report. 

 
  The Committee recommended that the Council should put in place the following 

best practice recommendations: 
 
 R6 Code to require registration of gifts/hospitality over £50 or over £100 pa from a 

single source 
 

R19  Parish clerks to be qualified - it was suggested that this could be raised at the 
joint meeting with Town and Community Councils to be held on 30 September. 

 
 R24  Councillors to be “prescribed persons” in Public Interest Disclosure Act 1998 
 

Page 8



BP4  Code readily accessible in prominent position on local authority website – it was 
suggested that there could be more transparency around this  

 
BP5  Local authorities to update registers of gifts and hospitality quarterly and make 

accessible 
 
BP11  Standards complaints about member on clerk conduct to be made by Chair or 

Parish (Community) Council as a whole - it was suggested that this could be 
raised at the joint meeting with Town and Community Councils to be held on 30 
September. 

 
BP15  senior officers to meet regularly with group leaders or whips re standards – it 

was suggested that the Chair and Vice Chair of the Standards Committee might 
wish to meet with the Leader of the Council and the Monitoring Officer  to 
discuss standards within the Council twice a year.   

 
The Monitoring Officer agreed to provide a report on progress on 

recommendation BP15 at the meeting of the Standards Committee to be held on 4 
November 2019. 
 

The Monitoring Officer advised that across the North Wales region there were 
8 Standards Committees (including the Fire and Rescue Authority and National Park).  
Each covered similar areas of responsibility and met frequently based on workload.  
Since 2016 it was legislatively possible to have joint Standards Committees service 
two or more authorities.  Attached to the report was a presentation on the risks and 
issues for the creation of one or more joint Standards Committees across the North 
Wales region. 
 

Julia Hughes asked that the minutes of the North Wales Standards Committees 
Forum meeting held on 24 June 2019, be amended to include her attendance under 
those present as follows:  North Wales Fire & Rescue – Julia Hughes (Vice-Chair). 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
(a) That offices should contact those counties identified by the Public Services 

Ombudsman as representing good practice to see what improvement could be 
made to the Council’s ethical training; 

 
(b) That the Council should put in place those best practice recommendations from 

the report of the Committee on Standards in Public Life as agreed by the 
Committee; and  

 
(c) That the Monitoring Officers in all 6 Councils plus the Fire and National Parks 

Authority, be asked to collectively prepare a more detailed analysis of how one 
or more Joint Standards Committees might be introduced in North Wales. 

 
 
 
 

Page 9



23. PUBLIC SERVICE OMBUDSMAN FOR WALES CASEBOOK ISSUE 20 (JANUARY 
– MARCH  2019) 
 

The Deputy Monitoring Officer introduced the report to inform the Committee of 
the latest publication of the Public Service Ombudsman’s Code of Conduct Casebook.  
He provided background information and advised that two complaints had  been 
investigated by the PSOW of which both were findings of no action necessary.  There 
were no findings of no breach, no referrals to Monitoring Officers for consideration by 
their Standards Committees and there were no referrals to the Adjudication Panel for 
Wales for adjudication by a tribunal.   

 
.  The Deputy Monitoring Officer reported on the main considerations, as 

detailed in the report, and referred to the findings of the Pembroke Dock Town Council 
– Promotion of equality and respect case,  and the Saltney Town Council – Promotion 
of equality and respect case. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the findings of those complaints that were investigated by the PSOW during 
January to March 2019, as summarised in issue 20 of the Casebook, be noted. 
 

24. UPDATE ON THE COMMUNITY ASSET TRANSFER PROGRESS 
 
 The Monitoring Officer introduced a report to give an update on the Community 
Asset Transfer Progress.  He provided background information and referred to the 
main considerations as detailed in the report.  He  advised that ethically there are 
potential difficulties during the negotiation of a transfer and subsequently where 
Councillors are involved in the management of the newly transferred asset, however, 
there are mechanisms within the Code and ways of working which can ease the 
potential difficulties. 
 

Councillor Patrick Heesom expressed concerns around the progress achieved 
on some applications to transfer assets and expressed the view that  local communities 
were being disadvantaged as a result.   The Monitoring Officer acknowledged the 
points raised by Councillor Heesom and said he would provide feedback to the Chief 
Officer Housing and Assets. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the Committee is assured that the mechanisms within the code of 
conduct/dispensation process are satisfactory for managing any potential ethical 
issues arising from the Community Asset Transfer Scheme. 
 
 

25. FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME 
 

The current Forward Work Programme was considered.  The Monitoring Officer 
reminded members that the next meeting of the Committee would be a joint meeting 
with Town and Community Councils.  The meeting of the Committee scheduled for 4 
November, would include an item on the suggestion made during the meeting that the 

Page 10



Chair and Vice Chair of the Standards Committee meet with the Leader of the Council 
and the Monitoring Officer to discuss standards within the Council.  It was agreed that 
a training session would be held prior to the meeting on 4 November.  The Monitoring 
Officer asked members to put forward any items for training.  Councillor Patrick 
Heesom asked that training be provided on the Community Asset Transfer Scheme. 

 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the Forward Work Programme be noted. 
 

26. MEMBERS OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC IN ATTENDANCE 
 

There was one member of the public in attendance. 
 
 

(The meeting started at 6.00pm and ended at 8.00pm) 
 
 
 

………………………… 
Chair 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

STANDARDS COMMITTEE 
 

 

Date of Meeting 
 

Monday, 30 September 2019 

Report Subject 
 

Feedback from the Independent Members’ Visits to Town 

and Community Councils. 

Report Author 
 

Matthew Georgiou 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 

The Independent Members of the Committee have attended meetings of all but one 

Town and Community Council in Flintshire over the past 12 months. The visits have 

been carried out in order to gain a greater understanding of how Town and 

Community Council meetings are run across the County, with a particular focus on 

issues pertaining to the Members’ Code of Conduct (the Code), and to provide any 

feedback arising from the visits that may be useful. 

The overriding feedback is that Town and Community Council meetings in Flintshire 

are well organised and attended and that Town and Community Councillors and 

their clerks should be commended for their hard work and commitment in this 

respect.   

Letters have been sent to Town and Community Councils following each report back 

to the Committee by Independent Members of the Committee, and this report is 

intended to summarise the common themes arising from the visits and to endorse 

them as recommendations to Town and Community Councils in Flintshire as a 

whole.   

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

1 That this report is circulated to all Town and Community Councils in 
Flintshire and the common themes and suggestions at paragraph 1.03 of 
this report are endorsed as recommendations of best practice to those 
Councils.  
 

 

 

Page 13

Agenda Item 7



 

 

REPORT DETAILS 

 

1.00 BACKGROUND 
 

1.01 The Independent Members of the Committee have attended meetings of all 

but one Town and Community Council in Flintshire over the past 12 months.  

These visits have been undertaken in order that Members gain a good 

understanding of how Town and Community Council meetings are 

organised and carried out across Flintshire, with a particular focus on any 

issues arising pertaining to the Code.  Written feedback has been provided 

to Town and Community Council clerks (copies of these letters are 

appended to this report).  The main message that has emerged is that 

meetings are generally very well attended by Town and Community 

Councillors, local issues appear to be thoroughly debated and considered, 

and that Councillors and their clerks should be commended for their hard 

work and commitment.   

1.02 There have, however, been some common themes that have arisen where 

Members of the Committee consider improvements should be made to 

meetings of Town and Community Councils in Flintshire.  The feedback 

letters referred to at paragraph 1.01 of this report have advised Town and 

Community Councils of these matters, and the key matters are summarised 

at paragraph 1.03 below. 

1.03 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1. Declarations of Interest should appear as a standing item on all agendas 

before substantive items are listed; 

2. Where Declarations of Interest are made by Councillors, Members should 

both verbally express whether the interest is personal, or both personal and 

prejudicial, and should also briefly explain the nature of the interest including 

which item on the agenda it relates to and should submit the same in writing 

before the end of the meeting; 

3. Agendas should be available prior to meetings on the Council’s website 

and minutes of meetings should also be published on the Council’s website; 

4. In order to promote accessibility, the location, date and time of meetings 

should be available on the Council’s website and adequate signposting at 

and around the venue itself should be in place; 

5. Name plates should be displayed for Councillors at meetings so Members 

of the public know who the Members of the Council are; 

6. Inductions should be arranged for all new Councillors, including an 

explanation of the expectations upon them under the Code; 

7. That the matters required under the Local Government (Democracy) 

(Wales) Act 2013 are published on Town and Community Council websites 

as follows: 

Page 14



(a) information on how to contact it and, if different, its clerk including - 

(i) a telephone number; 

(ii) a postal address; 

(iii) an email address; 

(b) information about each of its Members, including -  

(i) the Member's name; 

(ii) how the Member may be contacted; 

(iii) the Member's party affiliation (if any); 

(iv) the ward which the Member represents (where relevant); 

(v) any office of the Council held by the Member; 

(vi) any committee of the Council to which the Member belongs; 

(c) the minutes of the proceedings of the Council's meetings and (in so far 

as is reasonably practicable) any documents which are referred to in the 

minutes; 

(d) any audited statement of the Council's accounts. 

(e) the register of Members’ interests. 

 

2.00 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS  
 

2.01 N/A 
 

 

3.00 CONSULTATIONS REQUIRED / CARRIED OUT 
 

3.01 Town and Community Council clerks throughout Flintshire were consulted 
about the visits prior to them commencing and were provided with written 
feedback and the matters reported back to the Committee. 
 

 

4.00 RISK MANAGEMENT 
 

4.01 The recommendations within the report should reduce the risk of complaints 
about breaches of the Code and should improve the publics’ experience of 
Town and Community Council meetings. 
 

 

 

 

Page 15



5.00 APPENDICES 
 

5.01 Letters of feedback on visits sent to Town and Community Councils in 
Flintshire 

 

6.00 LIST OF ACCESSIBLE BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 
 

6.01 Contact Officer:   Matthew Georgiou, Deputy Monitoring Officer 
Telephone:   01352 702330 
E-mail:   matthew_georgiou@flintshire.gov.uk 
 

 

7.00 GLOSSARY OF TERMS 
 

7.01 N/A 
 

 

Page 16

mailto:matthew_georgiou@flintshire.gov.uk


County Hall, Mold. CH7 6NB 

www.flintshire.gov.uk 

Neuadd y Sir, Yr Wyddgrug. CH7 6NB 

 www.siryfflint.gov.uk 

We welcome correspondence in Welsh.   We will respond to 

correspondence received in Welsh without delay.  

Rydym yn croesawu gohebiaeth Gymraeg.  Ymatebwn yn ddi-oed i 

ohebiaeth a dderbynnir drwy gyfrwng y Gymraeg.  

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 1 
 

 

 
        All Town and Community Clerks 
 
        Visits to Town and Community Councils  
 

As you are aware, the independent members of the Standards Committee are 
currently undertaking visits to Town/Community Council meetings to observe practice 
and gain an understanding of how local council business is conducted.  The findings 
from the visits are reported to the Committee so that feedback can be given to 
Town/Community Councils to give assurance on good practice and procedures. 
 
The findings from the first four visits, undertaken in October, were received by the 
Committee this week.  The four independent members agreed that these had been 
positive experiences and praised the level of commitment and contributions by those 
in attendance.  They noted that the meetings had been well controlled by the Chairs 
(and Vice-Chair in one case), ably supported by Clerks. 
 
Amongst the findings were some minor procedural points that may be of general 
interest and assistance to all Councils. The points focus on helping members of the 
public who wish to attend meetings: 
 

 To promote accessibility, it is important that updated meeting information is 
available on the website and on noticeboards (for members of the public with 
no internet access) and that venues are clearly signposted where there is more 
than one room in the building. 
 

 Whilst recognizing the varying levels of resources, Clerks should aim to 
respond promptly to enquiries from members of the public where possible. 
 

 Following the requirements of the Code of Conduct when declaring interests at 
meetings including explaining the nature of the interest and how it has arisen 
helps everyone to understand what is happening. 
 

 It would be helpful for members of the public to know whether they are permitted 
to speak. For example, some Town/Community Councils provide this 
opportunity via a separate standing agenda item or by stating on the agenda 
that members of the public are allowed to speak at the Chair’s discretion. 

          All Town and Community Clerks 
 
          Sent via e mail  

  

 GO/TC 

 11th January 2019 

 Gareth Owens 

 01352 702344 

 
gareth.legal@flintshire.gov.uk 

Your Ref/Eich Cyf 

Our Ref/Ein Cyf 

Date/Dyddiad 

Ask for/Gofynner am 

Direct Dial/Rhif Union 

E-mail/E-bost 

Page 17

http://www.siryfflint.gov.uk/


           

2 
 

 

 To note the need to formally agree the minutes of previous meetings. 
 
The Committee hopes that this feedback is useful and wishes to acknowledge the 
dedication and good work undertaken by Town/Community Councillors in their 
voluntary roles. 
 

 

Yours sincerely 
 

 
 
        Gareth Owens  
        Chief Officer Governance 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 18



           

3 
 

 
 
 

 
        All Town and Community Clerks 
 
        Visits to Town and Community Councils  
 

This is my second update regarding the visits by the independent members of the 
Standards Committee to Town/Community Council meetings to observe practice and 
gain an understanding of how local council business is conducted.   
 
The findings from further visits undertaken were reported to the Committee on the 4th 
February and I am writing with feedback to all Town/Community Councils to give 
assurance on good practice and procedures. 
 
The findings from four further visits, undertaken in October and November last year, 
were received by the Committee this week.  As in the case of the last reported visits, 
the four independent members agreed that these had been positive experiences and 
praised the level of commitment and contributions by those in attendance.   
 
Amongst the findings were some minor procedural points that may be of general 
interest and assistance to all Councils. The points focus on helping members of the 
public who wish to attend meetings and some of these points were identified in respect 
of the last four visits: 
 

 The same point was made again about the importance of the location of 
meetings being clear and information being available on the website and on 
noticeboards, as well as venues being clearly signposted where there is more 
than one room in the building; 
 

 The best use of the layout of the meeting room should be made, in terms of the 
audibility and visibility of the meeting for any public attending; 
 

 The identity of members of the meeting itself should be made clear for the 
benefit of any public attending;  
 

          All Town and Community Clerks 
 
          Sent via e mail  

  

 GO/TC 

 6th February 2019 

 Gareth Owens 

 01352 702344 

 
gareth.legal@flintshire.gov.uk 

Your Ref/Eich Cyf 

Our Ref/Ein Cyf 

Date/Dyddiad 

Ask for/Gofynner am 

Direct Dial/Rhif Union 

E-mail/E-bost 

Page 19



           

4 
 

 Following the requirements of the Code of Conduct when declaring interests at 
meetings including explaining the nature of the interest, how it has arisen and 
what steps you will take in respect of it (e.g. to leave the room if it is a prejudicial 
interest) and that a request for any such declarations is made by the Chair at 
the beginning of the meeting prior to considering any substantive business 
 

 
The Committee hopes that this feedback is useful and wishes to acknowledge the 
dedication and good work undertaken by Town/Community Councillors in their 
voluntary roles. 
 

 

Yours sincerely 
 

 
 
        Gareth Owens  
        Chief Officer Governance 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 20



           

5 
 

 
 
 

 
        All Town and Community Clerks 
 
        Visits to Town and Community Councils  
 

This is my third update regarding the visits by the Independent Members of the 
Standards Committee to Town/Community Council meetings to observe practice and 
gain an understanding of how local council business is conducted.   
 
The findings from further visits undertaken were reported to the Committee on the 4th 
March and I am writing with feedback to all Town/Community Councils to give 
assurance on good practice and procedures. 
 
The findings from eight further visits, undertaken in November and December 2018 
and January 2019, were received by the Committee.  As in the case of the last reported 
visits, the four Independent Members agreed that these had been positive experiences 
and praised the level of commitment and contributions by those in attendance.   
 
In addition to the procedural points, the Committee requested that the following be fed 
back to Town and Community Councils: 
 

 The recognition of the benefit of youth involvement – Community Councils can, 
following public advertisement, appoint youth representatives who can play a 
valuable role in reaching an often neglected demographic. As the local 
government franchise is soon to be extended to 16 year olds, their participation 
is to be encouraged; 
 

 The benefit of public consultation sessions; 
 

 Access to the Code of Conduct being made available on the website. 
 

It was also agreed that a list of what Town and Community Councils were required to 
publish on their website would be sent out. This is attached. 
 

          All Town and Community Clerks 
 
          Sent via e mail  

  

 GO/TC 

 20th March 2019 

 Gareth Owens 

 01352 702344 

 
gareth.legal@flintshire.gov.uk 

Your Ref/Eich Cyf 

Our Ref/Ein Cyf 

Date/Dyddiad 

Ask for/Gofynner am 

Direct Dial/Rhif Union 

E-mail/E-bost 

Page 21



           

6 
 

As with previous reports, simple practical arrangements that could make it easier for 
the public were noted. These were: 
 

 The same point was made again about the importance of the location of 
meetings being clear and information being available on the website and on 
noticeboards, as well as venues being clearly signposted where there is more 
than one room in the building; 
 

 The best use of the layout of the meeting room should be made, in terms of the 
audibility and visibility of the meeting for any public attending; 
 

 The identity of members of the meeting itself should be made clear for the 
benefit of any public attending;  
 

 Following the requirements of the Code of Conduct when declaring interests at 
meetings including explaining the nature of the interest, how it has arisen and 
what steps you will take in respect of it (e.g. to leave the room if it is a prejudicial 
interest) and that a request for any such declarations is made by the Chair at 
the beginning of the meeting prior to considering any substantive business. 

 
The Committee hopes that this feedback is useful and wishes to acknowledge the 
dedication and good work undertaken by Town/Community Councillors in their 
voluntary roles. 
 

Yours sincerely 
 

 
 
        Gareth Owens  
        Chief Officer Governance 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 22



           

7 
 

 
 
 

 
        All Town and Community Clerks 
 
        Visits to Town and Community Councils  
 

This is my fourth update regarding the visits by the Independent Members of the 
Standards Committee to Town/Community Council meetings to observe practice and 
gain an understanding of how local council business is conducted.   
 
The findings from further visits undertaken were reported to the Committee on the 29th 
April and I am writing with feedback to all Town/Community Councils to give assurance 
on good practice and procedures. 
 
The findings from three further visits, undertaken in January and February 2019 were 
received by the Committee.  As with previous reported visits, the four Independent 
Members agreed that these had been positive experiences and praised the level of 
commitment and contributions by those in attendance.   
 
In addition to the procedural points, the Committee requested that the following be fed 
back to Town and Community Councils. 
 
One meeting seemed to take a very long time and finished very late.  When meetings 
take this long people may find it more difficult to concentrate and it can mean that 
people are less able to stay to hear items that may be of importance to them. Tempers 
can also fray if meetings are overly long leading to intemperate behaviour.   
 
Clearly the length of a meeting will be dictated in large measure by the business to be 
discussed, number of participants (if there is a large public presence for example) and 
the significance of issues.  In all cases though strong chairing can help to ensure that 
the business is transacted smoothly and effectively – for example it is important to 
prevent people from speaking multiple times or repeating points made previously, to 
move the debate on after the issues have been thoroughly aired etc. 
 

 
 

          All Town and Community Clerks 
 
          Sent via e mail  

  

 GO/TC 

 30th April 2019 

 Gareth Owens 

 01352 702344 

 
gareth.legal@flintshire.gov.uk 

Your Ref/Eich Cyf 

Our Ref/Ein Cyf 

Date/Dyddiad 

Ask for/Gofynner am 

Direct Dial/Rhif Union 

E-mail/E-bost 

Page 23



           

8 
 

The members have now visited 26 councils and the remaining 10 visits will be 
scheduled over the coming months.  Once all have been completed the Committee 
aims to pull together an overview of its work into a single document.   
 
As before, the Committee hopes that this feedback is useful and wishes to 
acknowledge the dedication and good work undertaken by Town/Community 
Councillors in their voluntary roles. 
 

Yours sincerely 
 

 
 
        Gareth Owens  
        Chief Officer Governance 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 24



           

9 
 

 
        All Town and Community Clerks 
 
        Visits to Town and Community Councils  
 

This is my fifth update regarding the visits by the Independent Members of the 
Standards Committee to Town/Community Council meetings to observe practice and 
gain an understanding of how local council business is conducted.   
 
The findings from further visits undertaken were reported to the Committee on the 3rd 
June and I am writing with feedback to all Town/Community Councils to give 
assurance on good practice and procedures. 
 
The findings from three further visits, undertaken in January, February and March 
2019 were received by the Committee.  As with previous reported visits, the four 
Independent Members agreed that these had been positive experiences and again 
praised the level of commitment and contributions by those in attendance.   
 
Although outside the scope of the visits to Town and Community Councils it has 
become apparent that a number of Councils are losing their clerks, and that Councils 
generally are finding it increasingly difficult to recruit.  I am aware that several Councils 
employ the same clerk though they do so as separate employers and therefore do not 
share the costs of training and the time/effort of appraising and developing the 
clerk.  There are however two Councils (Broughton & Bretton and Hawarden) which 
jointly employ their clerk, Sharron Jones.  They share the salary costs, giving the 
position longer hours and a more attractive package overall, and they also share the 
costs of recruitment, development and training.  Clearly Councils considering sharing 
a clerk will need to check that their values and expectations are aligned before 
proceeding but if you find your Council is in this position then feel free to talk to Sharron 
Jones. 
 
The Independent Members have also commented on the difficulties they sometimes 
encounter in locating information on Council websites.  Each Council should, of 
course, be free to choose the design and layout of their websites to reflect their local 
priorities. However, I have listed below the statutory requirements for what it must 
include and the key point is that residents must be able to find basic information (such 
as dates, times and agendas for meetings) quickly and easily. 

          All Town and Community Clerks 
 
          Sent via e mail  

  

 GO/TC 

 14th June 2019 

 Gareth Owens 

 01352 702344 

 
gareth.legal@flintshire.gov.uk 

Your Ref/Eich Cyf 

Our Ref/Ein Cyf 

Date/Dyddiad 

Ask for/Gofynner am 

Direct Dial/Rhif Union 

E-mail/E-bost 

Page 25



           

10 
 

 
Under the Local Government (Democracy) (Wales) Act 2013 a Community Council 
must publish the following matters on its website: 

(a) information on how to contact it and, if different, its clerk including— 

(i) a telephone number; 

(ii) a postal address; 

(iii) an email address; 

(b) information about each of its members, including— 

(i) the member's name; 

(ii) how the member may be contacted; 

(iii) the member's party affiliation (if any); 

(iv) the ward which the member represents (where relevant); 

(v) any office of the council held by the member; 

(vi) any committee of the council to which the member belongs; 

(c) the minutes of the proceedings of the Council's meetings and (in so far as is 

reasonably practicable) any documents which are referred to in the minutes; 

(d) any audited statement of the council's accounts: 

(e) the register of members’ interests. 

I am also aware the local Councils can experience difficulties in getting their websites 
translated. Many County Councils in North Wales use the translation service provided 
by Conwy Borough Council, who charge very reasonable rates. Any Council wishing 
to find out whether Conwy can help them should contact 
customerservices@flintshire.gov.uk. 

 
As before, the Committee hopes that this feedback is useful and wishes to 
acknowledge the dedication and good work undertaken by Town/Community 
Councillors in their voluntary roles. 
 

Yours sincerely 
 

 
 
        Gareth Owens  
        Chief Officer Governance 

Page 26

mailto:customerservices@flintshire.gov.uk


           

11 
 

 
        All Town and Community Clerks 
 
        Visits to Town and Community Councils  
 

This is my sixth update regarding the visits by the Independent Members of the 
Standards Committee to Town/Community Council meetings to observe practice and 
gain an understanding of how local council business is conducted.   
 
The findings from further visits undertaken were reported to the Committee on the 1st 
July and I am writing with feedback to all Town/Community Councils to give assurance 
on good practice and procedures. 
 
The findings from five further visits, undertaken in May and June 2019 were received 
by the Committee.  As with previous reported visits, the four Independent Members 
agreed that these had been positive experiences and again praised the level of 
commitment and contributions by those in attendance.   
 
The following points were raised -  
 

 The Committee still encounter some problems in finding meetings particularly 
where they take place in buildings with several entrances or different rooms; 

 It is common place, particularly when making a repeated/regular declaration of 
interest, for Councillors not to say why/how the interest arises.  It is a 
requirement of the Code for Councillors to specify the nature of the interest 
when making the declaration so that any member of the public (who might be 
unfamiliar with the interest) has sufficient information to understand the 
Councillor’s stake in an item; 

 Again just as a point to assist members of the public attending, it would be 
helpful if Councillors had name plates at the meeting so that it is possible to 
work out who is who. 
 

The Committee intends to finish its inspections and report the last visits back to the 
Standards Committee meeting on 2 September.  This will enable us to consider at 
our 30 September meeting, to which you are all invited, an overall report looking at 
the lesson from the whole of the programme of visits. 
 

          All Town and Community Clerks 
 
          Sent via e mail  

  

 GO/TC 

 2nd July 2019 

 Gareth Owens 

 01352 702344 

 
gareth.legal@flintshire.gov.uk 

Your Ref/Eich Cyf 

Our Ref/Ein Cyf 

Date/Dyddiad 

Ask for/Gofynner am 

Direct Dial/Rhif Union 

E-mail/E-bost 

Page 27



           

12 
 

As before, the Committee hopes that this feedback is useful and wishes to 
acknowledge the dedication and good work undertaken by Town/Community 
Councillors in their voluntary roles. 
 

Yours sincerely 
 

 
 
        Gareth Owens  
        Chief Officer Governance 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 28



           

13 
 

 
        All Town and Community Clerks 
 
        Visits to Town and Community Councils  
 

This is my seventh update regarding the visits by the Independent Members of the 
Standards Committee to Town/Community Council meetings to observe practice and 
gain an understanding of how local council business is conducted.   
 
The findings from further visits undertaken were reported to the Committee on the 2nd 
September and I am writing with feedback to all Town/Community Councils to give 
assurance on good practice and procedures. 
 
The findings from three further visits, undertaken in June and July 2019 were received 
by the Committee.  As with previous reported visits, the four Independent Members 
agreed that these had been positive experiences and again praised the level of 
commitment and contributions by those in attendance.   
 
As we’ve discussed previously, the setting and administrative arrangements for 
meetings can have a large impact on whether the meeting proceeds in a smooth and 
orderly fashion. Members have seen good examples where the formality of 
proceedings helped generate a conducive atmosphere to calm and considered debate 
without stifling input. 
 
Conversely, they have also found that less structured meetings can be both confusing 
for members of the public and can contribute to unruly behaviour. An important part of 
that structure which will help Councillors to comply with the Code of Conduct, is to 
have an agenda item early in the running order for Members to declare an interest. 
Such an item not only prompts Members to consider whether they need to declare an 
interest but also reminds them to do so. It is routinely included as an item after 
apologies and minutes in most Councils. 
 
Again, the Members have encountered some difficulties in finding the precise location 
of meetings. Clearly, this could make it difficult for members of the public to attend as 
well. Please consider putting clear directions on your websites and/or the use of 
signage at the venue.  
 

          All Town and Community Clerks 
 
          Sent via e mail  

  

 GO/TC 

 3rd September 2019 

 Gareth Owens 

 01352 702344 

 
gareth.legal@flintshire.gov.uk 

Your Ref/Eich Cyf 

Our Ref/Ein Cyf 

Date/Dyddiad 

Ask for/Gofynner am 

Direct Dial/Rhif Union 

E-mail/E-bost 

Page 29



           

14 
 

As before, the Committee hopes that this feedback is useful and wishes to 
acknowledge the dedication and good work undertaken by Town/Community 
Councillors in their voluntary roles. 
 
 

Yours sincerely 
 

 
 
        Gareth Owens  
        Chief Officer Governance 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 30



 

 

STANDARDS COMMITTEE  
 

 

Date of Meeting 
 

Monday, 30 September 2019 

Report Subject 
 

The Role of a Councillor 

Report Author 
 

Chief Officer (Governance) 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 

This report gives details of the role of a County Councillor and the potential 
expectations of them. 
 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

1 The Committee is invited to consider and comment on the report. 
 

 

REPORT DETAILS 

 

1.00 EXPLAINING THE ROLE OF A COUNCILLOR 
 

1.01 At the June meeting of the Committee, the question was asked: ‘What 

constitutes work or activities which fall outside the role of a County 

Councillor?’  The best way of addressing this is to set out what the role of a 

County Councillor is. 

1.02 Section 21(1) of the Local Government Act 1972 states that ‘For every 

County there shall be a Council consisting of a Chairman and Councillors 

and the Council shall have all such functions as are vested in them by this 

Act or otherwise’. Thus, a Councillor is an integral part of the Council, as 

Page 31

Agenda Item 8



collectively, all seventy Councillors are Flintshire County Council. This 

requirement sets aside any political banner under which they stood for 

election, or the political group in which they sit in the chamber, whether they 

are a Member of the party or group forming the Council’s administration. All 

seventy Members are the County Council. 

1.03 Therefore, County Councillors are not employees. Whilst current  ‘pay and 

rations’ arrangements, such as referring to Councillors receiving a salary 

(rather than a Members’ allowance as it was termed in the past) and are 

allocated a payroll number, and have a manager (this falls within the role of 

the Head of Democratic Services) may have caused confusion, the legal 

status or position  is unchanged. The Council is the employer, and thus all 

seventy Councillors together are the employer.  

1.04 The role description for a Flintshire County Councillor, which we publish on 

our website,  is as follows: 

Accountabilities 

To Full Council 

To the electorate of their ward 

Role Purpose and Activity 

Representing and supporting communities 

To represent ward interests; 

To be an advocate for the Council in the ward and communities they serve; 

To be a channel of communication to the community on Council strategies, 

policies, services and procedures; 

To represent individual constituents and local organisations, undertaking 

casework on their behalf and serving all fairly and equally; 

To liaise with executive Members, other Council Members, Council officers 

and partner organisations to ensure that the needs of the local communities 

are identified, understood and supported; 

To promote tolerance and cohesion in local communities. 

Making decisions and overseeing Council performance 

To participate in Full Council meetings, reaching and making informed and 

balanced decisions, and overseeing performance; 

To participate in informed and balanced decision making on Committees 

and panels to which they might be appointed; 

Page 32



To adhere to the principles of democracy and collective responsibility in 

decision making; 

To promote and ensure efficiency and effectiveness in the provision of 

Council and other public services. 

Representing the Council (subject to appointment) 

To represent the Council on local outside bodies as an appointee of the 

Council; 

To represent the Council on local partnership bodies, promoting common 

interest and co-operation for mutual gain; 

To represent and be an advocate for the Council on national bodies and at 

national events. 

Internal governance, ethical standards and relationships 

To promote and support good governance of the Council and its affairs; 

To provide community leadership and promote active citizenship; 

To promote and support open and transparent government; 

To support, and adhere to respectful, appropriate and effective relationships 

with employees of the Council; 

To adhere to the Member’s Code of Conduct, the Member/Officer Protocol 

and the highest standards of behaviour in public office. 

Personal and role development 

To participate in opportunities for development provided for Members by the 

authority. 

Values 

To be committed to the values of the Council and the following values in 

public office: 

Openness and transparency; 

Honesty and integrity; 

Tolerance and respect; 

Equality and fairness; 

Appreciation of cultural difference; 

Sustainability. 

Page 33



 The Local Government Association has published details of being a 
Councillor on its website, and emphasises that being a Councillor is hard 
work. Every day, Councillors are expected to balance the needs of their local 
area, residents and voters, community groups, local businesses, their 
political party (if they belong to one) and the Council. All will make legitimate 
demands on a Councillor’s time – on top of their personal commitments to 
family, friends and workplace. 

1.05 Whilst Councillors are not employees, they do receive a salary. The salary 

levels of Councillors in the 22 Welsh principal (County and County Borough 

Councils) are determined on an annual basis by the Independent 

Remuneration Panel for Wales (IRPW). All Councillors are eligible to receive 

the basic salary, which for 2019/20 is £13,868. The Council can also pay up 

to 18 senior salaries. Senior salaries are paid to the Leader and Members 

of the Cabinet, most Committee Chairs and the Leader of the largest 

opposition group. Details of payments to Councillors are published on the 

Council’s website. 

1.06 As a guide, the IRPW believe that the role of a ‘back bench’ Councillor is 

likely to be the equivalent of three working days a week. A senior salary 

holder such a Cabinet Member is likely to work the equivalent of a 37 hour 

week. 

1.07 The Council is required to encourage Councillors to produce an annual 

report, but there is no requirement on a Councillor to do so. 

1.08 The Welsh Local Government Association publishes a new Councillor guide 

which sets out the role of a Councillor. A copy is attached as Appendix A 

and was provided to all 70 Members of the County Council following the 

2017 elections. In addition, a Local Government association guide to 

working within a political environment is attached as Appendix B. 

1.09 Councillors are encouraged to attend development events such as 

workshops and briefings. Some of these are held during the evening, to 

assist those Councillors who are in employment or who have day time 

responsibilities. 

1.10 Some Members choose to be active by taking roles in one of the six 

Overview & Scrutiny Committees, or on a regulatory Committee, such as 

Planning, Licensing, or Audit Committee. There is also the Constitution & 

Democratic Services Committee, which has a statutory role in ensuring 

support for ‘backbench ‘Councillors. 

1.11 This report has dealt with the role of County Councillors. Community and 

Town Councillors have their own separate roles. There are over 730 Town 

and Community Councils in Wales. Many Councillors are also Town or 

Page 34



Community Councillors for their area – but this isn’t an essential 

requirement.  It is important that County Councillors and Town and 

Community Councillors work together in representing their communities 

and, likewise, County Councils and Town and Community Councils are 

encouraged to work closely together, and may hold regular liaison meetings 

and have established protocols on communication and consultation 

arrangements. We have the Flintshire Forum for this purpose. 

The level of services  which Community and Town Councils deliver vary 
across Wales, and whilst some are content with largely acting in a 
representative role, many also deliver a range of services on behalf of the 
community such as: 

 maintenance of community halls; 
 bus shelters; 
 public spaces; 
 play grounds. 

 

2.00 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS  
 

2.01 None from this report.  
 

 

3.00 CONSULTATIONS REQUIRED / CARRIED OUT 
 

3.01 None 
 

 

4.00 RISK MANAGEMENT 
 

4.01 Not applicable for this information report 
 

 

5.00 APPENDICES 
 

5.01 Appendix A: WLGA New Councillors Guide 
Appendix B LGA: Working in a Political Environment 
 

 

 

 

Page 35



6.00 LIST OF ACCESSIBLE BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 
 

6.01 Minutes of the Standards Committee June 2019. 
  
Contact Officer: Robert Robins, Head of Democratic Services  
Telephone: 01352 702320 
Email: robert.robins@flintshire.gov.uk 
 

 

7.00 GLOSSARY OF TERMS 
 

7.01 County Council: there are 22 County and County Borough Councils in 
Wales. They are ‘unitary authorities’ which provide most local government 
services. Some, in more urban areas, are called ‘County Borough’ Councils, 
and have a Mayor rather than a Chair as their civic head. 
 
Community and Town Councils: the lower level of democratic 
representation. There are over 730 in Wales, but not all Counties have 
Community Councils covering their entire area. In Flintshire we do, with 34 
Community and Town councils. There is no difference in status between 
Town and Community Councils. Any Community Council can resolve to 
have the status of a town. In that case, the civic head becomes ‘town mayor’ 
instead of ‘chair’ 
 
Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales – independent body which 
is responsible for determining Member salaries. 
 

 

Page 36



  

 

 

   

  

 

IMAGE 

 

 

  

  

  

 

A Guide for New  

Councillors in Wales 

 

 

May 2017 

Page 37



 

2      A Guide for New Councillors in Wales  
 

Contact  
Welsh Local Government Association (WLGA) 
The Welsh Local Government Association (WLGA) represents the interests of local government 

and promotes local democracy in Wales. The Association is a membership organisation that 

represents all 22 local authorities in Wales, the 3 fire and rescue authorities and 3 national park 

authorities are associate members. 

 

The WLGA's primary purposes are to promote better local government, to promote its reputation 

and to support local authorities in the development of policies and priorities which will improve 

public services and democracy. 
 

WLGA 
Local Government House 

Drake Walk 

Cardiff 

CF10 4LG  

 

Tel: 029 2046 8600 

 

Further information:  
Sarah Titcombe 

Policy and Improvement Officer (Democratic Services) 

Welsh Local Government Association 

 

Email: sarah.titcombe@wlga.gov.uk  

 

Published: May 2017  

Copyright: WLGA   
 
 
© 2017 Welsh Local Government Association 
For use by WLGA Member Authorities and no other without prior agreement from the WLGA 
 
The information in this guide was believed to be correct at the time of printing. The content is not 
intended to provide legal information; councillors should seek further legal guidance from the appropriate 
officer. The WLGA cannot take responsibility for errors or omissions. References to Government legislation 
and guidance refers to their status in March 2017.  

Page 38

mailto:sarah.titcombe@wlga.gov.uk


 

 
 

 

Contents  

1.  Introduction  4 

2.  Working with Communities  8 

3.  Some Background and Context for Your 

Role: Governance in Wales  

13 

4.  Your Roles in the Council 19 

5.  The Ethical Framework 32 

6.  Rules and Regulations  37 

7.  Communications and the Media  41 

8.  Financial Stewardship 43 

9.  Local Government Reform  48 

10.  Working with Officers  

 

50 

 

11.  Improvement, Performance and 

Regulation 

52 

12.  Support for Councillors  54 

13.  The Welsh Local Government Association 64 

14.  Further information  66 

Page 39



 

4      A Guide for New Councillors in Wales  
 

Top Tips 

Congratulations on your election as a 

councillor and welcome to your new 

role in local government.  

 

Being a councillor is a unique form of public 

service because you can make a real 

difference to the quality of other people’s 

daily lives and prospects. Local councils are 

responsible for a whole range of services; 

waste, recycling and environmental services, 

schools, social services, planning, housing, 

benefits, libraries, transport, leisure facilities 

and many more.  

 

As a councillor, you will help determine the 

way these services are provided, funded and 

prioritised. You will need to balance the best 

interests of the residents in your community, 

in the wider borough or county, in your 

region, across Wales, your political party (if 

you are a member of one), and the council. 

You will also need to ensure that your 

authority is governed effectively and 

ethically. Clearly this is a challenging and 

responsible position.   

 

Your first days in office as a new councillor 

can feel like the start of any new job. You 

may not be sure who to speak to, what the 

business is all about or even exactly what 

your role is. You know what you want to do 

but how to go about it can be something of 

a mystery. You will also find that you have 

to juggle a number of roles and 

responsibilities and significant challenges.  

 

To undertake the role effectively takes a 

significant amount of time, personal 

commitment, patience and resilience. 

This Councillors Guide can help by 

introducing you to local government and to 

your work as a councillor. It will provide you 

with reference information that will help you 

in your early days of office. It has been 

written by the WLGA, with input from 

councils, specifically for councillors elected 

in May 2017. If you have questions relating 

to the law or policy in your authority, 

officers locally will be able to provide you 

with further information.  

1. Introduction 

Page 40



 

 
 

Top Tips 

Your First Days in Office  

Your first priorities will be: 

 

 signing your declaration of acceptance of office 

 reading and signing the Code of Conduct 

 declaring any interests and affiliations that you may have 

 being briefed on how the constitution of the council works 

 understanding the salaries, allowances and expenses procedures 

 understanding and being introduced to who’s who within the 

council 

 understanding and discussing the council roles and positions you 

might be interested in being appointed to 

 taking part in the induction programme for new members 

 being provided with your ICT equipment and access to your online 

information 

 organising your community work and your ‘office’ system at home 

 checking out what support services such as child care are available 

 being shown around by a mentor or guide 

Page 41



 

6      A Guide for New Councillors in Wales  
 

Top Tips 

Induction  

All councils arrange an induction for newly 

elected councillors as they do for new 

members of staff. Make sure you have a 

copy of your council’s councillor induction 

pack and timetable of introductory events 

and training sessions. It is important that 

you attend these sessions, no one is elected 

for the first time with all the information 

and skills they need and even returning 

councillors will benefit from a refresher as 

events are moving fast in the public sector.  

 

 

At these sessions, you’ll learn about your role 

and the policy and laws that will guide you, 

you’ll meet the officers and councillors that 

you’ll be working with and you’ll start to 

develop some additional skills. Some councils 

also arrange for you to be guided or 

mentored by experienced officers or 

councillors. If there are resources, support or 

information that you need, just ask. 

 

We asked some experienced councillors 

for some advice for new councillors, 

you might find these useful. 

“Being elected is a gift 

from the community, you 

won’t know what’s in it 

until you start to unwrap 

it!” 

“Expect to be 

daunted and 

don’t expect to 

change the 

world.” 

“Don’t be afraid to make 

mistakes, we all do, you 

will learn from them.” 

“What you give to the 

role is what you get 

out of it, don’t expect 

to be financially rich, 

but rich in many other 

ways!” 

“Find yourself a mentor, they won’t tell you how 

to do your job but they can certainly help you find 

out how everything works!” 

“Co-operating with people 

works much better than 

confronting them.” 

“Remember that councillors from across the 

political divide also want to make a positive 

difference in their communities.” 

Page 42



 

 
 

Top Tips 

 

“Get organised at home, or you’ll soon 

get buried under a mountain of paper, 

use IT as much as possible it saves a lot 

of space.” 

“Find out how you are to 

conduct yourself in a Full 

Council meeting, it is very 

formal and if you don’t 

know what you are doing it 

can get pretty scary.” get 

“Find out which 
officers can help with 
what, get a directory 

of responsible officers 
– it’ll save a lot of 

time.” 

“Turn on your 

answering 

machine at home 

or you’ll be 

answering calls 

all day.” 

“Don’t be afraid to 

ask officers 

questions – that’s 

what they are there 

for.” 

“Don’t say something on Twitter or 

Facebook as a councillor that you 

wouldn’t be prepared to tell the 

world!” 

“Be prepared for meetings – read your 

agenda and papers and know how you 

intend to contribute.”  

“Check council and committee 

agendas for issues that might affect 

your ward.” 

“Learn to listen to people in your 

ward, you can get a real sense of 

what’s happening as well as what 

needs to be done.” 

“Go to all the induction and training 

sessions, and if it doesn’t make sense 

ask!” 
“Treat the officers with respect and 

understand the constraints they have 

to work within, polite persistence 

really pays off and a smile and a thank 

you costs nothing!” 

“My work as a councillor has provided me with real insight 

into the wide range of needs within the community, it’s 

important to engage, listen and learn at all times.” 

Page 43



 

8      A Guide for New Councillors in Wales  
 

Top Tips 

 

Many councillors stand for office 

because they want to make a difference 

in their local community, because they 

want to fix a local problem or because 

they want to give something back to the 

community that has supported them. 

Working with people in the community 

is a vital part of your role.  

 

All councillors are advocates for their 

communities and are ‘case workers’ for their 

individual constituents when advice or 

support is requested. Although you will spend 

time in council meetings, much of your time 

will be spent within your communities, 

speaking and working with members of the 

public and community groups.  

 

This role is developing and becoming even 

more important. One of the reasons for this is 

because the funding for the public sector is 

reducing and local government is having to 

rethink how it delivers services. Councils need 

to engage more with local people to design, 

commission and deliver services and to 

monitor whether they are working. They 

should also help local communities to support 

themselves. Councillors, because of their 

unique position within the community, can 

lead the engagement with and development 

of the communities they represent. This 

aspect of your role is usually called 

community leadership.  

 

Councillors as Community Leaders 

For the individual councillor, being a 

community leader can mean many things: 

 

 Making sure that the views of local 

people are taken into account when 

policy and decisions are made. This 

will include making sure that everyone 

has a say, not just those that speak 

loudest. You will also need to speak to 

the hard to reach or the disinterested. 

 Making sure that the council is 

aware of the needs of people in 

your community. This will require you 

to know about the needs of everyone in 

your community not just those who tell 

you what they want. 

 Empowering your community to 

support itself. This may mean 

organising people to act, share 

information or develop skills so that they 

become less dependent on the council. 

 Working to enable the council and 

local people to work together to get 

things done. This is sometimes called 

co-production and is based upon an 

equal and reciprocal approach to 

delivering services. 

2. Working with 

Communities 

Page 44



 

 
 

Top Tips 

 

 Encouraging joint working (typically 

referred to as ‘collaboration’) between 

and within communities, and across 

councils, ‘crossing borders’ if this is the 

best way of working. 

 Raising local concerns and working 

with others to tackle local issues 

such as childhood obesity, teenage 

pregnancy, affordable housing, street 

scene, and crime and disorder 

reduction. 

 

Getting to Know your Community  

You may have lived or worked in your 

community or wider electoral division for 

many years, but the chances are you will not 

know all the communities that live there and 

all their issues and problems. The dynamics 

of communities change due to the movement 

of people in and out of the community.  

 

A good way to familiarise yourself with your 

community or electoral division is to walk, 

cycle or drive around it, looking at roads, 

pavements, play areas, open spaces and 

other community facilities. This gives you an 

opportunity to note and report things like 

broken fences or equipment, potholes, graffiti 

or faulty streetlights to the appropriate 

council department and record action taken. 

This can also be a good opportunity to meet 

informally with your constituents. Some 

councillors carry out locality walks 

accompanied by fellow councillors and key 

council officers so they can make decisions on 

the spot. A few quick wins will make a good 

first impression.  

 

A community walk could be a regular activity, 

accompanied on occasion by key local 

contacts like residents’ association chairs, 

town or community councillors or community 

police. It is useful to build a shared 

knowledge of problems in an area and discuss 

possible solutions.  

 

Once you know your electoral division and 

what your constituents expect of you, you can 

then set some priorities and make some 

judgment as to how far they are compatible 

or conflict with the council’s overall priorities 

for the area as a whole.  

 

You may have already considered many 

of these questions during your 

campaign, but here are some questions 

to consider:  

 

 What percentage of people in your 

electoral division are employed?  

 Who are the main local employers in 

your community? Do people commute 

elsewhere? 

 Which are the key community groups 

that you need to contact?  

 What is the demographic make-up of 

your community?  

 How many people speak Welsh?  

 How is your council addressing issues in 

housing?  

 Do you fully understand what the plans 

for the community are in this area?  

 What would members of your 

community like to change?  

 How effective does your community 

consider the services they receive from 

the council to be? 

 What were the most recent educational 

results for the schools in your ward?  

 

Ask officers for any ward information that 

they keep and look at the information 

published by the Local Government Data Unit: 

http://www.infobasecymru.net/IAS/  

Page 45

http://www.infobasecymru.net/IAS/


 

10      A Guide for New Councillors in Wales  
 

Top Tips 

 

 

taking copies of all correspondence. Find out 

if your council provides members with a 

package or app which will enable you to 

track the progress of your casework. Some 

political parties provide these too.  

If it’s an issue relating to another service 

provider, you might wish to contact the 

organisation directly, or seek advice from a 

more experienced councillor or officer who 

may be able to signpost you to a source of 

help.  

 

3. Provide feedback  

After you have made initial enquiries, let the 

constituent know what you are doing and 

keep them up to date with progress and 

eventual outcomes. They may not know 

what is going on unless you tell them.  

 

4. Consider the wider issues  

Reflect on the issues raised by the casework 

and let other councillors know. Several 

similar concerns raised with councillors may 

suggest a broader service-wide problem, or 

that an issue needs to be dealt with by a 

new or revised policy or a scrutiny review. 

Where you have had a success, it is worth 

letting your colleague ward members know 

in case they face a similar situation.  

 

5. Celebrate your success  

Try to publicise your success to residents 

through Blogs, leaflets and newsletters – but 

if you are giving details of the case, make 

sure you ask permission from the individual 

concerned first.  

Casework  

The problems and issues local people raise 

with councillors are often referred to as 

‘casework’. Casework can sometimes lead 

on to policy development or campaigning 

on an issue but initially it is about the 

resolution of an individual query or 

problem.  

 

Your casework will come from: 

conversations, social media, letters, 

telephone calls and e­mails; surgeries, 

advice sessions and doorstep calls; 

campaigning and other political activity.  

When taking on a case the general steps 

you will need to consider are:  

 

1. What is the problem?  

Establish the facts and find out how your 

constituent wants you to help. Identify 

whether there is a long history to the 

problem and who has been approached in 

the past. Avoid promising to sort out every 

problem, but always offer a sympathetic 

ear. 

 

2. Who do I need to speak to?  

The issue may be about a council service or 

about another service provided by a partner 

or a concern about a wider local matter.  

If it’s a council matter, you may want to put 

your concern in writing to a council officer, 

although most members find that a quick 

face to face discussion, telephone call or e­

mail is quicker and easier in sorting out 

casework problems. Get into the habit of 

Page 46



 

 
 

Councillor Surgeries  

Case work will often result from direct 

meetings with people in the community so it 

is important that people can speak to their 

local councillor. Councillors are generally 

easily contactable and often very visible in 

their communities and people will often stop 

to talk to you in the street. Some councillors 

are active on social media. Another way of 

being accessible and contactable is through 

surgeries. Typically, this will involve you 

advertising a place and time when you will 

be available to meet people to talk about 

their concerns and what the council is doing.  

You could share your surgery with other 

councillors or local agencies or set up your 

meetings in community venues which are 

already regularly used to attract more 

people. Sometimes if you have a large 

electoral division, it can be useful to vary 

your location to make it easier for people to 

get to you. Accessibility of the venue is an 

important consideration and community 

centres or libraries are accessible, and have 

adequate facilities such as refreshments, 

toilets and waiting areas. 

 

You need to make sure that wherever you 

choose is safe for you. Make sure that there 

is someone else in the building with you 

and, although violent behaviour is rare, you 

might want to consider leaving yourself an 

exit from your meeting room.  

You can also call on people in their homes. 

It is helpful to notify residents when you 

intend to be in their area and remember 

your personal safety, take advice from 

officers before you go and take someone 

with you.  

 

Social Media 

Sometimes the best way of engaging with 

people is through social media. It can be 

more immediate and far reaching than 

traditional surgeries, meetings and visits. 

Asking a question on Facebook or Twitter is 

a fast way of gathering information and 

opinions. If constituents know that they can 

contact you via Facebook, you can reach 

more people than with face to face 

meetings.  

 

Remember there are pitfalls associated with 

using social media, what you say, if you can 

be identified as a councillor, even when “off 

duty”, will be open to very wide scrutiny and 

all the requirements of your Code of 

Conduct apply. Make sure that you are 

aware of your council’s guidance and 

member protocols on the use of social 

media. 

 

Equalities  

As a councillor, you represent several 

different communities and individual citizens 

with diverse identities. You will want to treat 

everyone with respect, so an understanding 

of equalities is essential. The Code of 

Conduct requires you to promote equality 

and to treat others with respect and 

consideration.  

 

Equality is about ensuring that all people are 

treated equally. This does not mean treating 
Page 47



 

12      A Guide for New Councillors in Wales  
 

everyone the same, but recognising the 

differences in their situations and experience 

and ensuring that there is equality of 

opportunity for all.  

 

For you to represent the diverse people in your 

electoral division, you need to know who they 

are. Do you know how many “communities of 

interest” you have? For example young people, 

older people, transgender people, gay men, 

lesbians, disabled people, people from 

different faith or religious organisations, Black, 

Asian, or people from other different minority 

ethnic groups, or people with different political 

opinions? 

 

Information about this can normally be 

provided by specialist council officers, such as 

the council’s equality officer, however your 

knowledge of the locality and talking to people 

will help you identify your communities and 

their needs.  

 

 

 

Page 48



 

 
 

An Overview  

In Wales, there are five ‘tiers’ of 

representative democracy. Wales is 

served by 40 (currently) Members of 

Parliament (MPs), 4 Members of the 

European Parliament (MEPs), 60 

Members of the National Assembly for 

Wales (AMs), as well as 1,254 local 

councillors elected to the county or 

county borough council. In most rural 

areas and in some urban areas the 

electorate is also served by a town and 

community council. There are over 8,000 

community and town councillors in 

Wales.  

 

There are 3 national park authorities, covering 

the Brecon Beacons, Pembrokeshire Coast and 

Snowdonia; the authorities’ membership 

includes some members appointed by the 

Welsh Government and councillors appointed 

by the local authorities who have land within 

the national park.  

 

There are 3 fire and rescue authorities in Wales 

covering North Wales, Mid and West Wales and 

South Wales. Councillors are appointed to the 

fire and rescue authority by their constituent 

local authorities.  

 

The 4 police forces in Wales, Gwent, Dyfed-

Powys, North Wales and South Wales are 

each governed by an elected Police and 

Crime Commissioner and scrutinised by a 

police and crime panel, which includes 

councillors appointed by the relevant local 

authorities.  

 

There are also a range of Welsh Government 

Sponsored Bodies (WGSBs) in Wales, these 

are public bodies that play an advisory, public 

policy, regulatory role or are responsible for 

public funding or service delivery. Public 

appointments are made to the boards of 

these bodies by the Welsh Government. 

Examples include the Arts Council for Wales, 

Natural Resources Wales and Sport Wales.   

 

Seven health boards in Wales are responsible 

within their geographical area for planning, 

funding and delivering primary health care 

services GPs, pharmacies, dentists and 

optometrists, hospital services and 

community services. An elected member from 

an authority within the local health board 

area sits on each of the boards.  

 

Each of the 22 local authority areas in Wales 

has a public services board (PSB). The 

purpose of public services boards (PSBs) is to 

improve the economic, social, environmental 

and cultural well-being in its area by 

3. Some Background and  

Context for Your Role:  

Governance in Wales 

Page 49



 

14      A Guide for New Councillors in Wales  
 

strengthening joint working across all public 

services in Wales. The statutory members of 

a PSB are the local authority, the local 

health board, the fire and rescue 

authority and Natural Resources Wales. The 

following are also invited to participate: 

Welsh Ministers, Chief Constables, the Police 

and Crime Commissioner, certain probation 

services and at least one body representing 

relevant voluntary organisations. 

 

What do Councils Do?  

Councils provide a range of services to their 

communities. Some are statutory which 

means that they must be provided, for 

example, refuse collection. Others are 

regulatory which must also be provided 

and include planning, including the 

management of development, and licensing 

of, for example premises or taxis. Finally, 

there are discretionary services which 

councils may choose to provide, such as the 

promotion of tourism.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Here are some examples of what your 
council is responsible for:  

 

Education  

Schools and school transport  

Housing  

Strategies, advice, provision and benefit 
administration  

Social Services  

Care and protection of children, older 
people and disabled people  

Highways and Transport  

Road maintenance, traffic management 
and planning, street naming  

Waste Management  

Refuse collection, recycling and fly 
tipping  

Leisure & Cultural services  

Libraries, museums, leisure centres and 
the arts  

Consumer protection  

Trading Standards  

Environmental services  

Food safety, pollution control  

Planning  

Development planning and development 
management  

Economic Development  

Attracting new businesses, promoting 
leisure and tourism  

Emergency Planning  

In case of emergencies such as floods, 
diseases, or terrorist attacks  

Page 50



 

 
 

Working with the Welsh Government  

The terms “Welsh Government” and 

“National Assembly for Wales” mean 

different things, but are often confused 

and used alternately. The Welsh 

Government is the executive, and consists 

of Cabinet Secretaries and Ministers 

supported by civil servants; the National 

Assembly for Wales is the legislative, 

consists of Assembly Members (AMs) and 

develops and scrutinises Welsh 

Government policy and performance and 

passes Welsh law. The Senedd in Cardiff 

Bay is the home of the debating chamber 

for the National Assembly for Wales. The 

Civil Service supports the work of the 

Welsh Government and the Assembly 

Commission supports the work of the 

National Assembly for Wales. AMs will be 

deciding on a new name for the National 

Assembly for Wales in 2018.  

 

The Welsh Government has a wide range 

of powers which impact on local 

government and the services it delivers. It 

is responsible for a range of local 

government policy areas, such as social 

services, education, the environment, 

planning, transport and economic 

development. Critically, it is responsible for 

distributing Wales’ £15 billion budget, of 

which £8.6 billion (2016/17) is spent on 

local government services.  

 

The Welsh Government sets the national 

agenda for Wales, and whilst setting 

strategies and key targets, it gives 

significant flexibility to local government to work 

within these national parameters. Most of the 

funding passed from the Welsh Government to 

local councils is not ‘ring fenced’, that means 

councils have maximum flexibility to spend the 

money on local needs and priorities.  

 

Councils have direct links with the Welsh 

Government, via elected members and officers. 

Much of the national representation and 

negotiation over policy development and funding 

is undertaken through the Welsh Local 

Government Association (the WLGA). This is a 

cross-party organisation which represents all 

councils and seeks to speak with one voice on 

behalf of local government. Leaders and senior 

councillors from all local authorities are 

appointed to the WLGA, with a number acting as 

local government spokespersons, meeting 

regularly with Cabinet Secretaries, Ministers, 

AMs and UK Government Ministers, to ensure 

local government’s concerns and views inform 

national decision-making. There is a statutory 

Partnership Council between the Welsh 

Government and local government which 

promotes joint working, co­operation and 

informed policy development.  

 

The National Assembly can make laws for Wales 

in the following areas:  

 

 agriculture, fisheries, forestry and rural 

development; 

 ancient monuments and historic buildings; 

 culture; 

 economic development; 

 education and training; 

Page 51



 

16      A Guide for New Councillors in Wales  
 

 environment; 

 fire and rescue services and promotion 

of fire safety; 

 food; 

 health and health services; 

 highways and transport; 

 housing; 

 local government; 

 National Assembly for Wales; 

 public administration; 

 social welfare; 

 sport and recreation; 

 tourism; 

 town and country planning; 

 water and flood defence; and Welsh 

language. 

 

Working with the UK Government  

Although the Welsh Government and 

National Assembly for Wales have 

significant financial, legislative and policy 

powers over much of what Welsh local 

government does, it is important that 

councils continue to work closely with UK 

Government Ministers and MPs in London.  

 

There are some key areas affecting local 

government that are not devolved, such as  

Home Office functions around policing and 

community safety, other UK-wide issues 

such as benefits and the overall system of 

local taxation (i.e. council tax). However, 

the Wales Act 2017 devolved some 

additional powers to the National Assembly 

for Wales and the Welsh Government 

including powers relating to the raising of 

taxes. Welsh local government’s links with 

the UK Government are increasing given 

ongoing discussions about the implications 

of Brexit. 

 

Councils will have direct links with the UK 

Parliament and Government, via local MPs 

and relevant Cabinet Secretaries or 

Ministers. Much of the national 

representation is conducted via the WLGA 

and Local Government Association.  

 

Working with the European Union - 

Planning for Brexit  

Local government implements most of the 

legislation currently operating under 

European Union (EU) law, operates within 

EU wide regulatory and policy frameworks 

and accesses funding from many European 

Programmes. It therefore has a key role to 

play in the planning for Brexit. In particular, 

it will need to input into the development of 

new UK and Wales legislative, policy and 

funding frameworks that will need to 

replace current EU arrangements in the 

following key areas: 

 

 competition policy and state aid;  

 employment and workforce issues;  

 regulatory services;  

 procurement;  

 environment, planning and waste;  

 agriculture and rural development; 

and 

 regional economic development. 

 

As local government will continue to 

participate in some EU funding 

Page 52



 

 
 

programmes, initiatives and networks post 

Brexit, it will be important to continue our 

involvement and participation in key 

European networks to enable partnership 

working with other nations and regions and 

joint bids for funding.  

 

Working with Community and Town 

Councils  

There are 735 community and town councils 

in Wales with around 8,000 councillors. 

Some are elected but most are co-opted. 

Many county councillors are ‘dual hatted’ and 

have also been elected to serve on their 

local community and town council.  

 

Community and town councils are not 

present in every part of Wales as there is a 

procedure for forming new councils; they 

can be established or disbanded at the 

wishes of the community. They can set a 

‘precept’ or ‘rate’ which is collected by the 

council along with the Council Tax.  

 

The level of services provided by community 

and town councils varies across Wales but 

can include:  

 

 provision and maintenance of 

community transport schemes; 

 traffic calming measures; 

 local youth projects; 

 tourism activities; 

 leisure facilities; 

 car parks; 

 village greens; 

 public lavatories; 

 litter bins; 

 bio­diversity schemes; 

 street lighting and cleaning; 

 burial grounds; 

 allotments; 

 bus shelters; 

 commons and open spaces; 

 footpaths and bridleways; 

 crime reduction measures; and 

 provision of village hall or contributing 

to another body that provides a 

facility. 

 

In addition, many councils use the Section 

137 discretionary power that enables them 

to provide other services, such as public 

telephones; village surgeries; preservation 

or restoration of old objects or buildings; 

best kept village competition; tidying land of 

unknown ownership; Christmas trees; 

flower shows, festivals and fairs; 

contributions to play groups and youth 

clubs; meals on wheels; and assistance for 

the disabled.  

 

Almost all councils employ a Clerk who is 

responsible for the efficient administration 

of the council which includes servicing of 

meetings; ensuring the council meets its 

legal obligations and handling its financial 

processes. The medium to large councils 

(some with budgets over £1 million) employ 

a range of other staff including 

administrators, cleaners, maintenance staff 

etc. All councils are required to have 

standing orders and financial regulations to 

regulate their operations.  

Page 53



 

18      A Guide for New Councillors in Wales  
 

 

If your community is covered by a community 

and town council, you will normally work 

closely with the councillors and council on 

areas of mutual interest or common concern. 

 

Most local authorities have agreed charters 

with their community and town councils which 

outline shared values, approaches to 

engagement and joint work and many meet 

regularly through liaison forums or meetings. 

 

One Voice Wales is the organisation which 

represents and provides support services to 

community and town councils across Wales. 

For further information, visit 

www.onevoicewales.org.uk  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 54

http://www.onevoicewales.org.uk


 

 
 

Councillors’ formal roles within the 

council vary. All councillors are 

members of the full council which sets 

the overall policies and budget. A small 

number of councillors will form the 

cabinet or executive board with all 

other members being active in the 

overview and scrutiny of the 

performance of the council, other 

organisations and external bodies.  

 

There are regulatory committees which deal 

with the planning and licensing functions. 

Councillors are also appointed to external 

local bodies such as school governing bodies 

and local partnerships, either as 

representatives of the council, or as trustees 

or directors in their own right. Some 

councillors also sit on:  

 

 Fire and rescue authorities; 

 police and crime panels; and 

 national park authorities (where 

relevant). 

 

Many council and committee meetings are 

now webcast. This means that they can be 

viewed by the public as they are happening 

or for a period of time afterwards. You will 

need to remember that what you say and do 

in a meeting could be watched from 

anywhere in the world. 

Some tips for participating in a 

meeting which is being broadcast. 

 Be natural and be yourself! 

 When you are speaking, be direct, to 

the point and as brief as possible. 

 Be aware of the range of the camera 

view as talking with colleagues, 

eating, adjusting clothing can be 

distracting if it is behind the member 

who is speaking. 

 Prepare your contributions in advance 

(bullet points which enable you to 

speak naturally rather than a 

prepared speech which looks and 

sounds unnatural).  

 Be aware of how your messages 

could be interpreted by the public, 

both what you say and how you say 

it. 

 You may have to be more clear about 

some of the information that you give 

so that it is clear to a lay person what 

you are doing and why you are doing 

it. A good example of this is declaring 

interests. It will be helpful to say not 

only that you have an interest but 

what the interest is whether it is 

personal or prejudicial and also how 

you intend to act as a result. 

 Avoid jargon and “council speak” – 

this applies to officers too! 

4. Your Roles in the Council 

Page 55



 

20      A Guide for New Councillors in Wales  
 

 Heckling doesn’t work well on a webcast 

as usually it is only the chair and the 

member who has the floor who can be 

seen and heard. Other comments are 

often unintelligible as they are off 

microphone. 

 Make sure that you are in range of the 

microphone and keep your head turned 

towards it. Don’t speak until your light 

comes on, or the first part of your 

contribution will be lost! Make sure that 

you turn your microphone off when you 

have finished speaking. 

 Be aware of how what you say could be 

used by the media. 

 Bear in mind that you are subject to the 

law of Defamation.  

 

Your formal roles within the council will vary, 

these are some that you may be involved in 

but you will not be expected to undertake 

them all.  

 

Full Council  

Legally councils are corporate bodies and 

ultimately the full council (that is the whole 

membership in a formal meeting) is 

responsible for everything the council does. 

Certain decisions must be made by the full 

council. These are major policies, the 

approval of some statutory plans, the setting 

of the annual budget and the council tax, and 

certain appointments and dismissals. Under 

the leader and cabinet model everything else 

is delegated to the cabinet/executive and to 

officers, other than the statutory committee 

functions (planning and licensing). Your 

council’s constitution will have more details 

about how the formal full council operates.  

 

Overview and Scrutiny  

All councils are required to have a least one 

overview and scrutiny committee, although 

most have more than one (they are 

sometimes called panels, forums or boards 

rather than committees). As only a small 

proportion of councillors will become part of 

the cabinet or executive board, the majority 

will be required to play a significant role in 

overview and scrutiny.  

 

Scrutiny is a key vehicle for councillors and 

communities to put forward their views and 

shape council policies. It gives councillors an 

opportunity to oversee council performance 

and provide challenge to the cabinet or 

executive where necessary. Although 

scrutiny’s focus is on the council itself, 

through scrutiny, councillors can consider 

wider issues affecting their area, including the 

role played by other public service partners.  

 

Overview and scrutiny committees do not 

make decisions on behalf of the council but 

their work is vital as they can help the council 

to formulate policy before a cabinet makes a 

decision on it, they can investigate an issue of 

concern and make recommendations to 

cabinet, they can monitor the performance of 

the council and flag up any problems before 

they become major issues, in fact, scrutiny 

has often been described as an early warning 

system or a means of identifying unforeseen 

consequences. Scrutiny committees can also 

Page 56



 

 
 

scrutinise decisions that have been made 

before they take effect, by “calling-in” the 

decision and recommending that it is re-

considered by the cabinet or by the council.  

Overview and scrutiny has a specific duty to 

scrutinise the joint work of the public services 

board and to scrutinise crime and disorder 

matters.   

 

As a scrutiny member, you will be expected 

to research and review information, listen to 

evidence and information provided by people 

invited to the committee, either officers, the 

community or professionals with expertise in 

the matter under review and help to 

formulate findings/recommendations. It is 

important that you have good listening and 

questioning skills to make sure that you 

gather all the information you need.  

 

Tips for scrutiny members from existing 
councillors 

“Attend every meeting and be 
prepared to undertake research 

between meetings” 

“Prepare for the meeting by reading 
all the information” 

“Work with the chair and other 
members of the committee to 

develop a questioning strategy” 

Planning  

Planning in local authorities is concerned 

with managing local resources effectively, 

making sure that development is 

sustainable and appropriate, and 

preventing inappropriate development. All 

councillors will be involved in some way in 

the planning process. You will contribute, 

for example, in steering the development of 

the Local Development Plan (LDP) which 

sets the framework for local decision 

making on land use and its review and 

monitoring. The adopted Development Plan 

is the basis upon which planning 

applications should be decided as it states 

what the council’s plans are for the area 

and it will have been subject to significant 

community involvement and public scrutiny.  

 

The principles behind LDPs:  

1. Sustainable development is promoted. 

This means that any development 

meets present needs but also makes 

sure that future generations can also 

achieve their needs and aspirations. 

2. The LDP encourages public 

involvement in plan making. 

Authorities should try to engage their 

communities throughout, to reduce 

disagreements about later stages of 

the plan and to reassure people of 

“Ask focussed questions, don’t make 
speeches or go on about what’s 

happening in your ward.” 

“when scrutinising I usually start by 
putting myself in the shoes of a 

resident, what questions would they 
ask? Would they want to challenge 

the response?” 

Page 57



 

22      A Guide for New Councillors in Wales  
 

where development is likely to occur in 

their area. 

3. The plan needs to be integrated with 

other relevant plans and strategies at 

local regional and national level. 

4. Regular monitoring of plans takes place 

to take account of changing 

circumstances. 

  

Councillors are closely involved throughout the 

whole process. Once the plan has been 

adopted it is monitored every year through an 

Annual Monitoring Report. There will also be a 

major review of the LDP every four years. The 

LDP must be their first reference point when 

seeking to assess the appropriateness of any 

development proposal.  

 

Even if you are not a member of a planning 

committee you are very likely to have 

enquiries from the public about planning 

issues so it is important that you know what 

they do and how they do it.   

 

Planning committees are involved in 

determining whether planning permission 

should be granted, taking into account the law 

on development and the requirements of the 

Local Development Plan. Being on a planning 

committee can be challenging when it comes 

to adhering to the Code of Conduct. There are 

laws that must be followed when making 

planning decisions. Failure to do so can lead to 

challenge through the courts, and formal 

complaints to the Public Services Ombudsman 

for Wales as well as causing damage to the 

reputation of the local authority. Planning 

committee members must make sure that 

decisions are soundly based having regard 

to the relevant legal and policy background.  

 

Planning Applications  

Planning applications go through the 

following stages:  

 

 Pre-application advice (optional for 

applicants but encouraged).  

 Validation, where applications are 

checked and validated.  

 Consultation, Publicity and 

Notification.  

All applications are required to be 

advertised by a site notice or by 

serving notice on adjoining owners or 

occupiers. Others, such as community 

and town councils should also be 

consulted. There are fixed timescales 

for this. Local members should be 

aware of applications in their areas 

and should contact officers if they 

need clarification or further 

information. There is a list of statutory 

consultees such as Natural Resources 

Wales and the Highway Authority that 

are consulted on relevant applications. 

 Consideration and Assessment 

Determination of the proposal against 

the adopted plan will be required 

unless there are material 

considerations which indicate 

otherwise. The Government sets a 

target for making decisions of 8 weeks 

or 13 weeks for major applications. 

Many decisions are made under the 
Page 58



 

 
 

authority’s delegated powers to 

officers. Those decisions which are to 

be made by members will be reported 

by officers who make a 

recommendation. 

 Recommendation 

Officers make a clear written 

recommendation with a report 

providing all relevant information to 

enable members to make an informed 

decision.  

 Decision  

 Permission granted, granted with 

conditions or legal agreement or 

refused.  

 

What happens when permission is 

refused?  

Firstly, there must be reasons for refusal 

which are clearly stated and based on sound 

planning principles. There can be one or 

multiple reasons for refusal.  

An applicant (not a third party) is entitled to 

appeal the refusal and this must be made 

within 6 months of the decision date. The 

appeal is dealt with by the Planning 

Inspectorate for Wales and costs will be 

incurred by the local planning authority in 

defending its decision. 

 

If significant proposals raise issues of more 

than local importance, the Minister has the 

authority to “call in” the application for 

determination by Welsh Government. The 

decision is taken out of the hands of the 

local authority and usually results in a public 

inquiry. 

Planning law, policies and procedures are 

challenging and complex. Attending your 

council induction session will be essential.  

 

Licensing  

Through their licensing functions, local 

authorities seek the prevention of crime and 

disorder, public safety, the prevention of 

public nuisance and the protection of 

children from harm. As a member of a 

licensing committee you could be involved in 

decisions about licensed premises such as 

pubs and premises preparing food, tattoo 

parlours, and casinos; the licensing of taxis, 

the organisation of events or licensing of 

street traders.  

 

The Standards Committee  

Every council must have a standards 

committee. The committee includes some 

councillors and some independent lay 

members appointed by the council. The 

committee is responsible for promoting high 

standards of conduct by councillors, and for 

adjudicating on alleged cases of misconduct 

or alleged breaches of the councillor code of 

conduct. The committee can issue a range 

of censures, including the suspension of a 

councillor for six months. All councillors are 

required to sign the Code of Conduct to 

ensure they uphold the highest standards 

(see chapter 5).  

 

The Audit Committee  

Every council must also have an audit 

committee, this committee exists to monitor 

the authority’s financial affairs and has its 
Page 59



 

24      A Guide for New Councillors in Wales  
 

membership prescribed by the Welsh 

Government as at least two thirds being 

members of the authority, one member a lay 

member and no more than one executive 

member. The audit committee will oversee 

the arrangements for internal and external 

audit, report on the adequacy of the 

authority’s risk management and internal 

control arrangements, have an input to the 

planning of the audit priorities and approve 

the annual audit programme. They will also 

consider the authority’s audit statements.  

 

The Democratic Services Committee  

The democratic services committee supports 

and oversees the work of the Head of 

Democratic Services in ensuring that 

councillors and committees and, in particular, 

the scrutiny function, is provided with 

appropriate resources and support. The 

committee makes regular reports to the full 

council on councillor related matters such as 

training and development, the support 

provided to individual councillors and 

committees and councillor resources such as 

laptops and mobile phones.   

 

The Cabinet or Executive  

The cabinet or executive is responsible for 

taking most of the council's decisions within 

the overall policy and budget framework. 

Each executive member has a specific 

portfolio area such as social services, the 

environment and housing or human 

resources. Their role is to drive forward their 

part of the Executive Work Programme. It is 

unusual for newly elected members to have 

an executive role, however, it is important 

to be aware of the executive work 

programme and make the necessary links 

with portfolio holders about issues 

affecting their portfolio in your locality.  

 

Outside Bodies  

As a councillor, you may be nominated by 

your council to sit on various types of 

outside bodies such as community 

organisations, housing associations and 

local companies. Being a council 

representative on an outside body does 

not necessarily mean that you will be 

representing the council’s interests on the 

organisation. You will be expected to act 

in the interests of the outside body and 

exercise independent judgement in 

making decisions, in accordance with your 

duty of care to the body. You may have 

regard to the interests of the council, but 

this should not be the overriding 

consideration. In some cases, (e.g. if you 

are the director of a company or a trustee 

of a charity – see below) voting in the 

council's interests could be a breach of 

your duty to the body.  

 

Your council may have adopted a policy 

on how and when reports are to be 

presented on what the organisation is 

doing. You should ensure that you know 

what is expected of you in terms of 

reporting back.  

 

However, you should also ensure that any 

reports that you present to the council do 

Page 60



 

 
 

not breach any duty of confidentiality you 

may have to the outside body.  

 

You should ensure that details of your 

appointment onto the outside body are 

included on the register of interests kept 

by the Monitoring Officer. The outside 

body may also have its own register of 

interest, which you should complete.  

 

When the outside body considers issues 

related to your council you should declare 

a personal interest. The specific rules 

adopted by each body will vary and you 

should ask for advice and guidance from 

the secretary of the organisation and/or 

the Monitoring Officer, as appropriate. If 

the outside body has a Code of Conduct 

you should observe it – if it does not, you 

should follow the Members’ Code of 

Conduct.  

 

When the council considers issues relating 

to or affecting the outside body you must 

declare a personal interest in accordance 

with the Code of Conduct. If this is your 

only interest, it will not be considered a 

prejudicial interest unless the matter 

relates to an approval, consent, licence, 

permission or registration and therefore 

you will be allowed to take part in the 

debate and vote. Confidential information 

must be treated with care and if you have 

any doubt over the status of any 

information then you should keep it 

confidential and check with the relevant 

officer. You must always observe duties of 

confidentiality – both to the council and 

the outside body. Deliberate leaking or 

disclosing of confidential information will 

be a breach of the  Code of Conduct. If 

you are hoping to be appointed to an 

outside body it is important that you have 

the time and skills necessary to take on 

the responsibility. 

 

Serving on a Fire and Rescue 

Authority  

There are 3 fire and rescue authorities in 

Wales, North Wales, Mid and West Wales 

and South Wales. Members are appointed 

to a fire and rescue authority by their 

constituent authorities according to 

political balance.  

 

As a member of a fire and rescue 

authority you will be expected to:  

 

 represent the fire and rescue 

authority in the community; 

 represent and promote the interests 

of the community; 

 act as the prime link between the 

fire and rescue authority and both 

the county/county borough councils 

and the local community; 

 participate in fire and rescue 

authority meetings; and support the 

fire and rescue authority's key role of 

delivering services to the community; 

and providing strong local 

governance. 

Page 61



 

26      A Guide for New Councillors in Wales  
 

Serving on a National Park Authority  

There are 3 national park authorities in 

Wales, Brecon Beacons, Pembrokeshire 

Coast and Snowdonia. National park 

authorities are composed of members from 

local authorities who have land within the 

park. Councillors are appointed according to 

political balance, although consideration is 

also given to having wards within the park 

and commitment to park purposes. These 

local authorities receive funding from the 

Welsh Government to make a financial 

contribution to the running of the park. In 

addition to local elected members, the Welsh 

Government appoints several members who 

may have experience or specialist knowledge 

of a subject such as, the environment, 

tourism, farming or community work. They 

are appointed through a recruitment 

process, and all vacancies are advertised 

publicly. Terms of office for local authority 

members and Welsh Government appointees 

are for 4 years, with a maximum of 10 years’ 

total service for appointees.  

 

Members of the national park authority act 

as advocates of the national park authority 

and its purpose of conserving and enhancing 

the natural beauty, wildlife and cultural 

heritage of the area, promoting 

opportunities for public enjoyment and 

understanding of the special qualities of the 

national park. They have a duty to foster the 

economic and social well-being of 

communities living in the national park.  As a 

national park member, you would be 

expected to:  

 make decisions and oversee 

performance through participation in 

authority meetings; 

 represent the interests of all residents of 

the national park; 

 represent the national park authority on 

outside bodies; 

 promote and support good governance 

of the national park authority; and 

promote and support its services. 

 

While serving on a national park authority, 

members are expected to represent the 

interests of the park rather than their principal 

authority. As a national park authority 

member, you will be expected to participate 

fully in the park’s induction and continuing 

development programmes to help you make 

an effective contribution.  

 

Serving on a Police and Crime Panel  

Police and Crime Commissioners have been 

elected in the 4 Police force areas in Wales; 

Dyfed Powys, Gwent, South Wales and North 

Wales. The commissioners set policing 

priorities, decide on the precept (the money 

which comes to policing from the Council Tax) 

and appoint and hold to account the Chief 

Constable.  

 

The activities of the Commissioner are 

scrutinised by a police and crime panel that 

will act as a critical friend, offering challenge 

and support. They will review the Police and 

Crime Plan, Annual Report and can veto the 

proposed precept. The panel also hold 

confirmation hearings for senior appointments 
Page 62



 

 
 

such as the Chief Constable and Deputy 

Police and Crime Commissioner.  

 

A police and crime panel is a free­standing 

body, formed and maintained by the 

Secretary of State. It is made up of at least 

10 councillors from the local authorities 

within the police force area and two 

independent members. Panels are not 

committees or joint committees of local 

authorities so councillors who sit on a panel, 

will do so as an individual rather than in their 

capacity as local authority representatives.  

 

Your Responsibilities as a Corporate 

Parent  

As a councillor, you personally carry 

responsibility for the care, education, and 

future life chances of every child that is 

looked after by your local authority. This is 

because once a court has made the decision 

to grant a care order, the council as a whole 

becomes the responsible corporate parent.  

 

Your local authority will have a lead member 

with delegated powers and statutory 

responsibilities under the Children Act 2004. 

This member will be responsible for making 

sure that the council is delivering its aims for 

local children and young people, planning 

improved safeguards and better outcomes 

and working with statutory and voluntary 

partners, to ensure sufficient funding, priority 

setting, and commissioning of services.  

 

Overview and scrutiny committees will 

monitor and question the services provided 

to looked after children, making sure that 

there is a clear link between the priorities as 

set out in the various statutory plans, and 

the council's budget. It can monitor 

performance and the impact of services on 

the lives of children who leave care. It may 

help develop policy for the executive to 

consider. It can involve relevant parties 

(children and young people, carers, parents, 

partnership organisations, and front­line 

staff) in gathering evidence.  

 

As a local councillor, you have a duty to 

make sure that the children and young 

people in your locality are sufficiently 

supported. Although the council will be 

unable to disclose information about 

individuals, you can check about the 

availability of services generally. If you are a 

school governor you can ask questions about 

the support that is available from the school 

for looked after children who are pupils 

there. It is important to remember that 

councillors should not get involved with the 

lives of individual children, or in directing 

officers in the care of children.  

 

Taking Decisions for Future Generations  

Every public body in Wales has an individual 

and a collective duty to tackle the challenges 

that face Wales now and in the future, such 

as climate change, poverty, health 

inequalities and jobs and growth. To address 

these challenges, we need to work 

collaboratively to take decisions for the 

benefit of people now and in the future. The 

Page 63



 

28      A Guide for New Councillors in Wales  
 

duties of local authorities in this area, are set 

out in the Wellbeing of Future Generations 

Act. The Act defines seven well-being 

goals which show the kind of Wales public 

bodies collectively want to see. Public bodies 

in Wales must work towards these goals. The 

Act also puts in place a sustainable 

development principle which tells 

organisations how to go about meeting their 

duties under the act. There are `five ways 

of working` which public bodies need to 

think about to show that they have applied 

this sustainable development principle. The 

five ways of working are a common-sense 

approach to effective decision making and 

good governance. The goals and five ways of 

working are set out below.  

It is important that councillors consider these 

requirements when they take decisions. 

Scrutiny members have an important role in 

making sure that decisions have been made 

according to the sustainable development 

principle.  

 

Taking decisions based on the 

principles of equality 

The councillors’ Code of Conduct outlines 

expectations around councillors’ behaviour 

and commitment to equalities and respect. 

Local authorities, as public service providers 

and as major employers, have a range of 

statutory duties and responsibilities around 

equalities. The Equality Act 2010 outlines a 

series of ‘protected characteristics’ and 

places duties on public bodies that can be 

summarised as follows:  

  

 Remove or minimise disadvantages 

experienced by people due to their 

protected characteristics; 

 take steps to meet the needs of 

people from protected groups where 

these are different from the needs of 

other people; and 

 encourage people with protected 

characteristics to participate in public 

life or in other activities where their 

participation is disproportionately low. 

 

The protected characteristics are: 

 age 

 disability 

 gender reassignment 

 marriage and civil partnership 

Page 64



 

 
 

 pregnancy and maternity (which 

includes breastfeeding) 

 race 

 religion or belief 

 sex 

 sexual orientation.  

 

Welsh Language and Councils 

The Welsh language has official legal status 

in Wales which means that Welsh should be 

treated no less favourably than the English 

language in Wales and that people in Wales 

should be able to live their lives through the 

medium of the Welsh language if they choose 

to do so.  

 

The Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011 

sets out a range of Standards that apply to 

public bodies, including councils, and 

established the role of the Welsh Language 

Commissioner.  

 

The Commissioner publishes a Compliance 

Notice for each public body, which says how 

that public body should apply the Standards; 

each Compliance Notice is unique to the 

organisation, so councils may be required to 

attain different levels of compliance within 

the standards. You should therefore ask 

council officers for guidance around how the 

standards apply to you in your role as a 

councillor and how they apply to the council 

as a service provider and as an employer.  

The Welsh Language Commissioner’s role is 

to promote the Welsh language and improve 

the opportunities people have to use it. The 

Commissioner also seeks to ensure that 

public bodies follow their Compliance Notices 

and investigates any complaints that an 

organisation has not met the Standards or its 

Compliance Notice. The Commissioner has 

enforcement powers and can impose fines on 

public bodies for non-compliance.  

 

The standards cover these 6 areas of work in 

a local authority.  

  

1. Service Delivery Standards– focuses 

upon the provision of services, 

procurement, corporate identity and 

communication; 

2. Policy Making Standards– focuses 

upon assessing impact on the Welsh 

language in all policy decisions and 

taking positive steps to promote 

Language use; 

3. Operational Standards– focuses 

upon the promotion and facilitation of 

Welsh in relation to an organisation’s 

internal activities; 

4. Promotion Standards – focuses upon 

promoting the Welsh language in all 

aspects of business including external /

partnership work; and looks specifically 

at education and skills, language 

transmission, children and young 

people, the community and a 

supporting infrastructure for the Welsh 

language; 

5. Record Keeping Standards – focuses 

upon maintaining records for 

compliance in areas such as staff skills, 

complaints, training and recruitment 

including compliance with the other 
Page 65



 

30      A Guide for New Councillors in Wales  
 

Standards; and 

6. Additional Standards - requires the 

Authority to prepare an Annual Report 

regarding Standard compliance, and to 

provide information to the Welsh 

Language Commissioner as required. 

 

Chairing Meetings  

At some point in their careers, all councillors 

will find themselves chairing a meeting. Many 

of the meetings you chair will be formal 

committee meetings or 'task group' meetings 

with officers and/or partner agencies 

involving a range of public, private and 

voluntary sector agencies. These will need to 

be chaired in accordance with the council's 

constitution and procedure rules and any 

other procedures or 'protocols' that apply. 

Outside of this, however, you may also be 

asked to chair other group discussions, e.g. 

public meetings, board meetings for 

voluntary or community groups, appointment 

panels, committees of enquiry etc. Different 

meetings will need different approaches. You 

will need to think about the tone, style and 

venue for the meeting, how to manage the 

meeting and encourage people to contribute, 

how to take decisions and which rules you 

need to adhere to.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

“As a chair, I always try to include 

all members of the committee, but if 

they start to wander off the point, or 

repeat what has already been said, 

I’ll politely move the agenda on. 

After all, you have to make the best 

use of the time available.” 

“It’s worth always being really well 

prepared for committee meetings, it 

doesn’t look good if you have to keep 

referring to officers” 

“If things are getting heated or 

confrontational at a meeting, suggest 

a break!” 

Some suggestions from chairs  

“When you are meeting in the com-

munity bear in mind that people will 

have no idea who you are, who the 

officers are and what you can and 

can’t do, try to make this clear at the 

outset!” 

Page 66



 

 
 

Before  During  After  

 Clarify the meeting’s 

objectives. 

 Ensure (or work with officers 

to make sure) that the right 

people are invited to attend. 

 Ensure that all necessary 

documents are produced or 

that officers produce these in 

sufficient time.  

 Choose your venue and 

make sure that it is suitably 

equipped and set out. 

 Develop some contingency 

plans for non-attendance. In 

a council committee, there 

will be a quorum of members 

required for the meeting to 

go ahead. There may not be 

this requirement in the 

community.  

 Prepare yourself by knowing 

about all the matters under 

discussion and the purpose 

of each agenda item.  

 Prepare yourself by knowing 

all the “rules” that will apply 

in the meeting about who 

can contribute, how often 

and how.  

 Make sure that your 

committee members or 

meeting participants are fully 

prepared and informed.  

 Create a good first 

impression, welcome 

people and clarify 

everyone’s role. Welcome 

viewers if the meeting is to 

be webcast. 

 Focus on what the meeting 

needs to achieve and gain 

commitment to the 

agenda.  

 Establish any ground rules, 

how should people 

contribute? how will 

everyone have a chance to 

speak? 

 Steer discussions in a 

structured way and 

manage the time and the 

personalities.   

 Encourage different views 

and opinions.  

 Summarise discussions and 

any decisions made after 

each agenda item and at 

the end of the meeting so 

that people are clear 

what’s been achieved.  

 Thank everyone for their 

contributions. 

 Agree details for any follow 

up meetings. 

 Finish the meeting on time.  

 Ensure that minutes 

record the key 

decisions. 

 Make sure that any 

meeting notes or 

minutes are circulated 

to participants and 

anyone else who 

needs to know what 

was decided. 

 Check progress on 

any actions agreed at 

the meeting. 

Tips for new chairs when having meetings in the council or community. 

Page 67



 

32      A Guide for New Councillors in Wales  
 

Local government requires high 

standards of conduct to ensure that 

there is public confidence in 

everything we do. You have a legal 

duty to act ethically. This is set out in 

the Local Government Act 2000. Also, 

the Local Authorities (Model Code of 

Conduct) (Wales) Order 2008 requires 

a mandatory Code of Conduct in each 

authority based on a national model.  

 

The Code draws on the 7 Principles of Public 

Life which were set out in the Nolan Report 

“Standards of Conduct in Local Government 

in England, Scotland and Wales”. Three 

more were added to these: a duty to uphold 

the law, proper stewardship of the Council’s 

resources and equality and respect for 

others. The standards are now described as 

follows:  

 

1. Selflessness 

Members must act solely in the public 

interest. They must never use their 

position as members to improperly 

confer an advantage on, or to avoid a 

disadvantage for, themselves or to 

improperly confer an advantage or 

disadvantage on others. 

2. Honesty 

Members must declare any private 

interests relevant to their public duties 

and take steps to resolve any conflict in 

a way that protects the public interest. 

 

3. Integrity and Propriety 

Members must not put themselves in a 

position where their integrity is called 

into question by any financial or other 

obligation to individuals or organisations 

that might seek to influence them in the 

performance of their duties. Members 

must on all occasions avoid the 

appearance of such behaviour. 

 

4. Duty to Uphold the Law 

Members must act to uphold the law 

and act on all occasions in accordance 

with the trust that the public has placed 

in them. 

 

5. Stewardship 

In discharging their duties and 

responsibilities members must ensure 

that their authority’s resources are used 

both lawfully and prudently. 

 

6. Objectivity in Decision-making 

In carrying out their responsibilities 

including making appointments, 

5. The Ethical Framework 

Page 68



 

 
 

awarding contracts, or recommending 

individuals for rewards and benefits, 

members must make decisions on 

merit. Whilst members must have 

regard to the professional advice of 

officers and may properly take account 

of the views of others, including their 

political groups, it is their responsibility 

to decide what view to take and, if 

appropriate, how to vote on any issue. 

 

7. Equality and Respect 

Members must carry out their duties 

and responsibilities with due regard to 

the need to promote equality of 

opportunity for all people, regardless of 

their gender, race, disability, sexual 

orientation, age or religion, and show 

respect and consideration for others. 

 

8. Openness 

Members must be as open as possible 

about all their actions and those of their 

authority. They must seek to ensure 

that disclosure of information is 

restricted only in accordance with the 

law. 

 

9. Accountability 

Members are accountable to the 

electorate and the public generally for 

their actions and for the way they carry 

out their responsibilities as a member. 

They must be prepared to submit 

themselves to such scrutiny as is 

appropriate to their responsibilities. 

 

10. Leadership 

Members must promote and support 

these principles by leadership and 

example so as to promote public 

confidence in their role and in the 

authority. They must respect the 

impartiality and integrity of the 

authority’s statutory officers and its 

other employees. 

 

The Code of Conduct  

Every local authority has a Code of Conduct 

based on a national model. The Code of 

Conduct shows you how to apply the ethical 

framework.  

Unless you sign your Declaration of 

Acceptance and give a written undertaking to 

observe the Code of Conduct you cannot be 

a member. If you fail to undertake or 

observe the Code, you can be suspended or 

even disqualified from office. The Code 

applies to all councillors in Wales.  

 

The Code applies to you whenever you 

are …  

 in any “official” meeting of the 

authority; 

 in any meeting where councillors or 

officers of the authority are present; 

 acting, claiming to act or giving the 

impression you are acting as a 

representative of the authority; 

 conducting business of the authority as 

a member and acting as a 

representative of the authority; 

 acting in an official capacity; and 

 acting as a representative on another 

body unless that body has conflicting 

legal rules or its own code. 

 

Also at any time if:  

 you conduct yourself in a manner likely 

to bring your office or authority into 

disrepute; or 

 you use or attempt to use your position 

to gain advantage or avoid 

disadvantage for yourself or others; or 

 you misuse your authority’s resources. 

Page 69



 

34      A Guide for New Councillors in Wales  
 

General rules you need to follow under 

the Code  

 promote equality; 

 treat others with respect and 

consideration; 

 do not bully or harass people; 

 do not compromise the impartiality of 

officers; 

 do not disclose confidential information; 

 do not prevent access to information; 

 do not bring your office or authority into 

disrepute; 

 you must report breaches of the code; 

 do not make vexatious complaints; 

 you must cooperate with investigations; 

 you must not use your position 

improperly; 

 do not misuse your authority’s 

resources; 

 reach decisions objectively; 

 consider advice that officers give you 

and give reasons if you don’t take it; 

 comply with the law and your 

authority’s rules regarding expenses; 

and 

 do not accept any gifts or hospitality 

that would place you under an 

obligation or seem to do so. 

 

Interests  

The public must have confidence that you are 

making decisions in their best interests not 

yours; therefore, if you have an interest in 

the matter you must declare it. There are 

two types of interest: Personal and 

Prejudicial.  

 

What are Personal Interests?  

You have a personal interest when a decision 

relates to or is likely to affect you or a “close 

personal associate” in relation to:  

 

 your job or business; 

 your employer or company in which you 

are a partner or director; 

 someone who has contributed to your 

election costs or member expenses; 

 any company where you have shares 

over £25K or more than 1% of the total 

share value which has premises or land 

in your area; 

 any contract that your authority makes 

with a company in which you are a 

partner, paid director or hold shares; 

 any land in which you have an interest 

in your authority’s area; 

 any land let by your authority to a firm 

in which you are a partner, paid director 

or hold shares; 

 any land in your authority's area which 

you have a license to occupy for at least 

28 days; 

 any body to which you have been 

elected appointed or nominated by your 

authority; 

 any public authority or body exercising 

functions of a public nature, charity, 

public opinion or policy, trade union or 

professional association, private club or 

society in your authority’s area of which 

you are a member or in a management 

position; and/or 

 any conflict between your ward and 

decisions which affect the authority as a 
Page 70



 

 
 

whole. 

 

Who is a ‘Close Personal Associate’  

Someone who is a friend, a colleague with 

whom you have strong connections, a 

business associate or a close relative. It also 

includes someone with whom you have 

been in dispute. It does not include a casual 

acquaintance, distant relative or someone 

who you meet through your work. 

 

What do you do if you have a Personal 

Interest?  

 you must declare it verbally at 

meetings; 

 you must declare it when making 

written or verbal representations 

outside of a meeting; 

 you must complete a declaration of 

interests form; 

 

BUT you are entitled to take part in 

discussions and vote unless it is a 

prejudicial interest. 

 

What are Prejudicial Interests?  

Prejudicial interests are personal interests 

which a member of the public would regard 

as likely to influence your opinion or your 

ability to be objective for example:  

 if your daughter lives next to a 

proposed site for a new housing 

development; or 

 if your son attends a local school 

which is due for closure. 

What do you do if you have a Prejudicial 

Interest?  

 you must leave the meeting during the 

discussion; 

 you must not exercise delegated 

powers; 

 you must not seek to influence the 

decision; and 

 you must not make written or verbal 

representations. 

 

UNLESS  

 the standards committee has granted 

you a dispensation; 

 the public have a right to speak or 

provide evidence (but you must leave 

after you have spoken); or 

 you have been called before a scrutiny 

committee. 

 

Predetermination and Bias  

If you are involved in making a decision, you 

are required to take into account evidence 

and all relevant factors and disregard that 

which is irrelevant. You should also avoid 

making up your mind before hearing all the 

facts.  

 

It is possible that your decision making may 

be open to challenge if you give the 

impression that you have made up your mind 

before hearing all the relevant information 

from all the relevant people. This is called 

‘predetermination’ and means having decided 

a position on something where no argument 

would change your mind.  

 

Page 71



 

36      A Guide for New Councillors in Wales  
 

Predetermination has been the subject of 

legislation (Section 25 of the Localism Act 

2011). which tried to clarify “that it is proper 

for councillors to play an active role in local 

discussions and that they should not be 

liable to legal challenge as a result”. This 

was because council decisions could be 

challenged because of councillors being 

accused of having closed minds, usually 

because of previous statements in meetings 

or to the press. Following the Act, cases are 

less likely to be brought against councillors 

based on what they have said previously. 

However, you may still be challenged if it 

can be shown that you did not follow your 

legal requirements to take into account all 

relevant factors before making a decision.  

 

What happens if you breach the Code 

of Conduct?  

If someone believes that you have breached 

the Code, a complaint can be made to your 

Monitoring Officer. As councillor, you have a 

duty to make a complaint if you think a 

fellow councillor is in breach of the Code.  

Authorities have their own ‘local resolution 

protocols’ for dealing with ‘low-level’ 

complaints locally which might involve, for 

example, Monitoring Officers addressing the 

problem with Group Leaders or an ad hoc 

committee of councillors. More serious 

alleged breaches of the Code will be referred 

to the Public Services Ombudsman for 

Wales. If a complaint is found to be proven, 

the Ombudsman will refer the case to a local 

standards committee or the Independent 

Adjudication Panel for Wales, and sanctions 

can range from no action through 

suspension to disqualification for 5 years. 

Even if you are suspended you are still 

subject to the Code!  

 

Your authority will have further guidance on 

the Code but if you are in any doubt about 

how you should act, ask the Monitoring 

Officer and read the Guidance from the 

Public Services Ombudsman for Wales on this 

website: http://www.ombudsman-

wales.org.uk/  

Page 72

http://www.ombudsman-wales.org.uk/
http://www.ombudsman-wales.org.uk/


 

 
 

The council will have a constitution 

setting out decision-making structures 

and procedures, terms of reference of 

internal committees, roles and 

responsibilities of individual positions of 

office, procedure rules for meetings, 

codes of conduct and financial 

regulations. Your local constitution will 

be based on a nationally agreed model 

constitution.  

 

Procedure Rules 

Full council, the cabinet/executive, overview 

and scrutiny and regulatory committee 

meetings are governed by rules for 

procedure. These cover the timing of 

meetings, order of business and rules of 

debate. Make sure that you know the rules of 

debate, how and when to declare an interest 

and the terms of reference for any committee 

you sit on. Although it is the chairperson’s 

responsibility to interpret these “rules” you 

will need to make sure that you know what 

they are and act accordingly.  

 

Agendas and Minutes  

Legally, councils are obliged to publish a 

notice of any public meetings three clear 

working days before the meeting. This notice 

must include the date, time, venue and 

agenda. Officers will make sure you receive 

this for your committees and possibly for 

others, so that you can decide if you would 

like to attend as an observer if items are 

being discussed of interest to your ward.  

 

Officers will take minutes at all formal 

council meetings. This serves as a record of 

the decisions taken, the reasons for the 

decisions being taken and any background 

papers received. These minutes are 

available to the public. All council meetings 

and committees are open to members of the 

public unless there are legal reasons to 

exclude them.  

 

Co-optees  

If a committee needs access to specific 

technical expertise or knowledge, councils 

can co-opt members of the public with these 

skills to committees. Some co-optees are 

statutory, such as the chair and members of 

standards committees, chair and members 

of audit and some members of the 

education and crime and disorder scrutiny 

committees. These co-optees are entitled to 

vote at a meeting, other non-statutory co-

optees can contribute fully but are not 

entitled to vote. 

 

Schemes of Delegation  

In the constitution, a scheme of delegation 

sets out which individuals – both councillors 

and officers – have individual decision-

6. Rules and Regulations 

Page 73



 

38      A Guide for New Councillors in Wales  
 

making capacity for which functions. Many 

decisions are made day to day by officers 

but within the policies, resources and 

procedures agreed by the council.  

 

Information Rights  

There are legal entitlements of access to 

information by councillors and the public. 

Access is restricted to confidential 

information (e.g. private information or 

commercially sensitive information). The 

main provisions for this are set out in the 

Access to Information Act 1985 and the 

Local Government Act 1972). The public has 

extensive rights to committee papers 

(agenda, minutes and background papers) 

and there are legal duties on councils to 

publish and store, and retrieve on request, 

such documents and information.  

 

Access to Information  

The Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) 

gives people rights of access to information 

held by the council. This is to make sure 

that the public understands how the council 

works, how it spends its money and how it 

makes decisions.  

 

The Act obliges councils to state publicly, 

through a publications scheme, the 

information the public can access about the 

council (e.g. published strategies and policy 

documents).  

 

It also obliges councils to comply to 

requests for information unless exemptions 

apply.  

Information that you hold as part of your 

official business, such as letters, papers and 

emails may have to be made available, but 

information that you hold for your own 

purposes will not be covered by the FOIA.  

 

Further information can be found on the ICO 
website: https://ico.org.uk/ 

 

Data Protection  

The Data Protection Act (DPA) applies to 

personal data – i.e. information about living, 

identifiable individuals.  

 

If you hold and process personal data you 

must comply with the data protection 

principles, set out in the DPA. The principles 

include the following requirements in 

relation to personal data:  

 

 it must only be collected for a specific 

purpose; 

 it must be kept secure; 

 it must be relevant and up to date; and 

 it must not be excessive - only hold as 

much as you need for as long as you 

need it. 

 

You should also be aware that under the 

DPA, individuals are entitled to see copies of 

personal data held about them – for 

example constituents may ask for copies of 

information you hold about them. The 

Information Commissioner’s Office (ICO) can 

provide guidance on how to handle such 

requests.  

 

Page 74

https://ico.org.uk/


 

 
 

The DPA requires most individuals and 

organisations (such as councils) who hold 

personal data to notify the ICO that they do 

so. Councillors who hold personal data must 

also check if they need to notify. While not 

all councillors need to notify the ICO, failure 

to do so when required is a criminal 

offence.  

 

The need to notify depends on the role that 

members are undertaking when processing 

personal information. If acting as a member 

of the council or major political party, you 

will not be required to notify. However, 

when acting as a community representative 

or if you are an independent councillor you 

may need to do so. To make sure that you 

are covered, most councils suggest that all 

members notify the ICO that they are 

processing personal data.  

 

Before sharing any information about a 

constituent or organisation with another 

party such as an AM, MP or MEP (such as 

an individual complaint) you should ensure 

that you have the explicit agreement of the 

constituent or organisation. The same 

obligation is true of others who may wish to 

disclose information to you as the local 

councillor. 

 

The ICO provides guidance on data 

protection issues relating to elected 

members of a local authority and on what a 

local authority must consider when deciding 

to disclose personal information to its 

elected members. The guidance includes 

examples of good and bad practice which are 

useful in explaining how elected members 

should behave in relation to the requirements 

of the DPA.  

 

Further information can be found on the ICO 

website: https://ico.org.uk/  

 

All Welsh local authorities, health boards/

trusts, police forces, fire and rescue 

services, many charities and voluntary 

sector organisations have signed up to the 

Wales Accord on the Sharing of Personal 

Information (WASPI). This Accord provides 

a framework for service-providing 

organisations directly concerned with the 

health, education, safety, and social well-

being of people in Wales. It concerns those 

organisations that hold information about 

individuals and who need to share that 

information to deliver effective services.  

The Accord is part of the Welsh 

Government-led Sharing Personal 

Information Project which aims to make 

sure public services, as well as appropriate 

third and private sector service providers, 

share personal information about individuals 

legally, safely and with confidence. The 

framework facilitates this by establishing 

agreed requirements and mechanisms for 

the exchange of personal information 

between service providers. 

 

Procurement  

Authorities have a duty to spend money 

responsibly. Therefore, they have 

procurement processes for acquiring goods, 

Page 75

https://ico.org.uk/


 

40      A Guide for New Councillors in Wales  
 

works and services from suppliers. 

Procurement starts with identifying needs 

and finishes with the end of a contract or the 

life of the asset. Local government in Wales 

spends over £2 billion a year externally. With 

a service delivery reform agenda for 

improvement, increasingly integrated public 

services, and a significant growth in 

partnerships with private and voluntary 

sector suppliers, it is important to get 

procurement right. Through leadership, 

decision making and scrutiny roles, you will 

have a significant part to play in the 

achievement of strategic objectives through 

effective procurement of service delivery.  

 

 

Page 76



 

 
 

Although leaders and portfolio holders 

will promote corporate council policy 

and political parties may have 

communications strategies, you will be 

expected to generate your own 

personal publicity and communications 

with constituents.  

 

Who to communicate with:  

 the public; 

 other councillors; 

 council managers and staff; 

 local AMs and MPs; 

 your political party and group if you 

have one; 

 local organisations and businesses; 

 the media; 

 organisations working collaboratively 

with your council; and 

 central government and regional and 

national bodies in Wales. 

 

How to communicate:  

 Social media; 

 newsletters; 

 websites; 

 blogs; and 

 local media, newspapers, radio and 

television. 

 

A key feature of your communicating and 

influencing role is the impact that you have in 

the local media. There is a generally held 

assumption that local government gets a ‘bad 

press’, but evidence suggests that local media 

are willing to present local government in a 

positive light, if handled in the right way.  

 

Your council will have protocols governing the 

issuing of press releases and speaking to the 

local media, if you are not sure whether your 

council has such procedures you should check 

before taking any action. Local press, 

television and radio journalists want a story to 

cover. These may often be the main source of 

information on local government for both 

interested and disinterested citizens and you 

will need to use your communication and 

influencing skills to ensure that a balanced and 

accurate account is given to the media in the 

first instance.  

 

Social Media 

Digital media and social networking have a 

huge potential for contributing to open and 

transparent government, participation and 

collaboration. These are helpful tools for 

authorities and members to engage with the 

community. Twitter and Facebook are 

increasingly the communication channel of 

choice and a significant opportunity to reach 

more people than ever before. ‘digital 

7. Communications and the Media 

Page 77



 

42      A Guide for New Councillors in Wales  
 

engagement’ has helped councillors speak 

directly with communities of interest and 

gauge opinions quickly. However, there is a 

temptation for local councillors and 

politicians generally to use social media as a 

one-way channel of communication, tending 

to broadcast ideas and actions rather than 

listening and engaging with communities and 

individuals. Social media is an excellent 

platform for asking questions and getting 

feedback from individuals and communities.  

 

Some councillors have also encountered 

some of the pitfalls associated with using 

digital media. You need to remember that if 

you can be identified as a councillor, even 

when “off duty” what you say will be open to 

very wide (potentially global) scrutiny and 

you will need to apply the usual rules 

governing communication and conduct.  

 

 

Page 78



 

 
 

Councils face growing challenges due 

to a continuing programme of UK 

public sector austerity and the 

lingering effects of recession. Councils’ 

budgets are shrinking, at a time when 

needs are increasing and demographic 

pressures, including an ageing 

population, are growing. Councils are 

having to make difficult decisions 

around service cuts and job losses. 

They are also exploring new ways of 

delivering services. Although councils 

have local flexibility around how they 

prioritise and spend their resources, 

some of the most expensive and 

statutory services like education, social 

services and housing must be funded to 

a level which delivers certain 

standards. This means that other 

discretionary services, those which are 

often most valued by the public, such 

as the local environment, libraries, 

leisure centres and the arts suffer 

when money is short. Councillors have 

a significant responsibility to ensure 

that public money is being spent 

responsibly. In 2016/17 local 

authorities in Wales were responsible 

for spending £7 billion.  

 

The money that councils spend on the day to 

day running of services is called the 

Revenue Budget. This includes expenditure 

on staff salaries and wages, payment to 

suppliers, running costs of property and loan 

repayments.  Whilst this expenditure is partly 

funded from fees and charges and council 

tax, the main source of funding is from the 

Welsh Government. About 45% comes from 

the Welsh Government in the form of the 

Revenue Support Grant, 26% from specific 

grants and 13% from redistributed business 

rates.  

 

The Revenue Support Grant from the 

Welsh Government is not ring fenced or 

hypothecated. This means that the grant is 

flexible and councils decide how it is to be 

used to meet local needs and priorities and 

invest in services.  

 

Council tax funds on average only 15% of 

local council expenditure in Wales. So, 

despite the level of controversy and publicity 

it generates, it only contributes a small 

proportion of a local councils’ income. If a 

council needs to increase its expenditure, it 

can only do this by raising more money 

through the council tax which results in a 

disproportionate increase, as a 1% budget 

increase would require a 6% Council Tax 

increase.  

8. Financial Stewardship 

Page 79



 

44      A Guide for New Councillors in Wales  
 

The council tax bill includes a precept for 

police and community and town councils. 

(Fire and rescue authorities levy constituent 

councils for their share of the 

budget).  Many people often do not 

appreciate that their council tax helps pay 

for police officers and fire-fighters, as well 

as the broad range of council services. 

 

A council’s Capital Budget covers the 

money it spends on investing in buildings, 

infrastructure and expensive pieces of 

equipment. To count as capital expenditure, 

new assets or additions to assets must have 

a life of more than one year.  

 

Councils develop a medium term 

financial plan, which reflects their other 

corporate strategic plans and which links 

with their Risk Management and Asset 

Management Plans. Each year the annual 

budget will be developed in the medium 

term financial plan. As well as setting out 

the council’s spending plans for the 

following year, the budget process results in 

the setting of the council tax for the 

following year. The annual budget and level 

of council tax is set by the whole council on 

the advice and recommendation of the 

cabinet or executive board.  

 

In a council, budget planning typically takes 

between 3-5 years. However, there is a 

need to approve individual budgets each 

year, culminating in the setting of the local 

council tax, usually in February/March each 

year.  For the annual budget the following 

timelines typically apply.  

 

The council is advised and supported in 

managing its finances by a senior officer, 

known as the Section 151 Officer, who is 

statutorily charged with responsibility for 

ensuring financial probity. This officer is 

often the Treasurer or Director of Finance. 

July  

Budget Strategy Report considered. 

July/September  

Directorates continue to develop budget 

proposals. 

October  

Provisional budget settlement received  

November/December  

Consultation on draft budget savings 

proposals. 

December  

Final Budget Settlement received. 

January  

Fine tuning of budget proposals and 

consideration of medium term financial 

plans. 

February  

Approval of Corporate Plan and budget and 

setting of council tax.  

Page 80



 

 
 

The management of financial transactions is 

governed by the financial regulations of the 

council.  

 

As a councillor, you will need to know 

about and may be involved in the 

following financial activities:  

 

 upholding financial management 

standards; 

 approving the Annual Statement of 

Accounts; 

 approving the Financial Strategy; 

 approving the authority’s budget, you 

may be able to ask for this to be 

amended or ask the cabinet to 

reconsider before giving approval; 

 approving fees and charges; 

 reserves & provisions, as part of the 

Statement of Accounts process; 

 setting the Council Tax; 

 approving the Council Tax Reduction 

Scheme on a yearly basis (currently a 

requirement of Full Council) 

 approving the Treasury Management 

Policy statement; and 

 staffing, that is determining how 

officer support for executive and non-

executive roles within the authority will 

be organised. 

 

Some financial terms explained  

 

The Barnett Formula is the way the 

resources allocated to the Welsh 

Government is calculated by the UK 

government. 

Capital expenditure is the money spent on 

assets (e.g. housing redevelopment, leisure 

centre construction). 

 

CIPFA – Chartered Institute of Public 

Finance and Accountancy. This is the 

leading professional body for people in public 

finance. As the world’s only specialised public 

services accountancy body, they provide 

information, guidance, and determine 

accounting standards and reporting 

standards to be followed by local 

government. 

 

Council Tax is a local tax which is collected 

from occupiers of residential property. The 

amount of tax is calculated by reference to 

home value bandings. Council tax funds the 

council approved expenditure after taking off 

government grants, business rates, fees and 

charges.  

 

Green Book The Green Book provides 

analysis of the Standard Spending 

Assessments by individual services used in 

the calculation of the revenue settlement for 

unitary and police authorities in Wales. 

 

HRA or Housing Revenue Account If the 

council owns its own social housing stock, 

the HRA is a specific account of expenditure 

and income that every local authority 

housing department must keep in accordance 

with the Local Government & Housing Act 

1989. The account is kept separate or ring 

fenced from other council activities. Income 

is primarily generated by the rents and 
Page 81



 

46      A Guide for New Councillors in Wales  
 

service charges paid by tenants, while 

expenditure is on the management and 

maintenance of the housing stock, and 

capital financing charges on the HRA’s 

outstanding loan debt.  

 

Hypothecation Otherwise known as 

‘earmarking’ or ‘ringfencing’ applies to 

funding from government that is meant for a 

pre-determined purpose such as specific 

grants.  The Revenue Support Grant is un-

hypothecated and is given to a council for it 

to determine how it is spent giving the 

council more flexibility in meeting its own 

objectives.  

 

Inflation The increase in costs of the same 

goods from one year to the next. Most 

commonly used measures of inflation bundle 

together the increase in costs of a range of 

goods such as food and fuel commonly 

purchased by households. The following are 

measures of inflation:  

 

 CPI (Consumer Price Index) 

 RPI (Retail Price Index) 

 

When setting budgets, councils are 

particularly concerned with wage/salary 

inflation and increases in specialist large 

spending areas like residential care.  

 

Local Government Funding Formula This 

is the method that the Welsh Government 

uses to distribute the Revenue Support Grant 

to each council. It is based on the population 

and demographic, physical, economic and 

social characteristics of each area set out in 

the standard spending assessment, the 

standard spending assessment is a notional 

calculation of what each council needs to 

spend to provide a standard level of service. 

 

Local Government Settlement This is 

the official term for the Welsh Government’s 

funding for local government, and includes 

the Revenue Support Grant, specific 

purpose grants and non-domestic rates and 

is distributed based on the funding formula.  

 

MTFP or Medium Term Financial Plan 

The Medium Term Financial Plan covers a 

period typically of three years and forms 

part of the Council’s corporate planning 

processes. The MTFP aims to identify 

financial and funding pressures facing the 

council over the forthcoming three years 

that will lead the future budget setting 

process, outline the council’s budget 

position for the next three years, and set 

out future levels of government funding.  

 

NNDR or National Non­Domestic Rates 

A levy on businesses collected by councils 

on behalf of the Welsh Government, and 

paid into an All Wales Pool. The Pool is then 

redistributed amongst all Welsh local 

authorities. 

 

Revenue expenditure refers to day to 

day running costs (e.g. salaries, supplies, 

maintenance).  

Page 82



 

 
 

RSG – Revenue Support Grant  A grant 

paid by central government to aid local 

authority services in general (as opposed to 

specific grants for specified purposes). The 

grant makes up the difference between 

expenditure at Standard Spending 

Assessment, and the sum of a) the amount 

the authority would collect if council tax was 

set at the government’s standard level and 

b) redistributed NNDR.  

 

The Standard Spending Assessment or 

SSA is a notional calculation of what each 

Council needs to spend to provide a standard 

level of service. The Welsh Government uses 

such an assessment as part of the formula 

for distributing Revenue Support Grant to 

local authorities. It is calculated to reflect the 

differing costs of providing services in each 

authority area because of their different 

demographic, geographic, and socio-

economic characteristics. 

 

Specific Grants The Welsh Government 

provides some funding to local government 

in the form of hypothecated grants. These 

grants can only be used for the specific 

purposes for which they are provided. 

 

Page 83



 

48      A Guide for New Councillors in Wales  
 

With various plans for local government 

reform having been outlined by Wales’ 

political parties in their 2016 election 

manifestos, there will be much that 

needs to be decided during the next 

term of the National Assembly for 

Wales.  

 

On 31st January 2017, the Welsh 

Government published a white paper for 

consultation called Reforming Local 

Government: Resilient and Renewed, which 

you can read here.  

 

https://consultations.gov.wales/

consultations/reforming-local-government-

resilient-and-renewed?lang=en 

 

At the time of writing, the Welsh Government 

was reviewing the responses to the 

consultation but the Cabinet Secretary has 

proposed that if there is support, legislation 

will be introduced in 2017-18.  

 

The paper proposes that the existing 22 

authorities are retained (unless some wish to 

merge voluntarily) and that local government 

builds upon its commitment to collaboration 

by delivering some services regionally. The 

Welsh Government’s preferred option is that 

some services would be delivered according 

to an agreed national footprint, whilst others 

would still need to be delivered collaboratively 

but on a footprint decided by councils. In 

practice this would mean that economic 

development, transport planning and strategic 

land use planning would be delivered within 

the regions set out in the map below. Other 

services such as education improvement, 

additional learning needs, social services, 

public protection, promotion of the Welsh 

language and some back-office services 

would be delivered over a footprint decided 

by councils.  

 

Arrangements will need to be made for these 

regional services to be governed effectively, 

so the Welsh Government is proposing that 

Joint Governance Committees are established 

to ensure that services are effective and 

locally accountable. The Welsh Government  

will also be providing a framework setting out 

how these new arrangements will be 

scrutinised.  

 

Local authorities and the WLGA has been 

broadly supportive of the proposed approach 

as it built on the progress councils have made 

themselves in delivering services jointly or 

regionally. The WLGA is keen to ensure that 

subsidiarity (the presumption that power is 

transferred to the level of government closest 

9. Local Government Reform 

Page 84

https://consultations.gov.wales/consultations/reforming-local-government-resilient-and-renewed?lang=en
https://consultations.gov.wales/consultations/reforming-local-government-resilient-and-renewed?lang=en
https://consultations.gov.wales/consultations/reforming-local-government-resilient-and-renewed?lang=en


 

 
 

to the people) is protected in any reforms and has 

put forward three principles:  

 

 that funding should continue to be provided 

to the 22 councils who would then agree 

which budgets are pooled regionally;  

 that the statutory function for services 

should remain at the local level; and  

 that local accountability is vital through local 

councillors exercising oversight and scrutiny 

of any regional service.  

 

The White Paper also sets out potential changes 

to the voting system for local government 

including votes for 16 year olds and proportional 

representation.  

NORTH WALES ECONOMIC
AMBITION BOARD

GROWING
MID WALES

SWANSEA BAY
CITY REGION

CARDIFF CAPITAL
REGION

CONWY

DENBIGHSHIRE

WREXHAM

PEMBROKESHIRE

NEATH
PORT TALBOT 

VALE OF 
GLAMORGAN

CEREDIGION

POWYS

CARMARTHENSHIRE

ISLE OF
ANGLESEY 

GWYNEDD 

FLINTSHIRE 

SWANSEA

MONMOUTHSHIRE 

BRIDGEND
CARDIFF

NEWPORT
CAERPHILLY

RHONDDA
  CYNON

  TAF 

BLAENAU
GWENT

TORFAEN

MERTHYR
TYDFIL

North Wales

Central and South West Wales

South East Wales

PROPOSED ‘JOINT GOVERNANCE
COMMITTEE’ AREAS

Local Authority Boundary

Economic Development Region

CARDIFF

SWANSEA BAY CITY

© Crown copyright 2017
Cartographics •  Welsh Government • ML/110/16.17

January 2017

WALES Proposed ‘Joint Governance Committee’ Areas

Page 85



 

50      A Guide for New Councillors in Wales  
 

Officers are employed to manage the 

work of the council and help councillors 

put their policies into action. Officers 

working in local authorities are, like 

councillors, subject to a code of 

conduct.  

 

There are several key designated officer 

roles which are statutory.  

 

They are the: 

  

 Head of paid service (normally the chief 

executive or managing director) who is 

the most senior advisor and manager 

within the council;  

 Section 151 Officer (normally the 

director of finance or equivalent) who is 

responsible for ensuring financial 

probity;  

 Monitoring Officer (normally the Head 

of Legal Services or equivalent) who 

ensures compliance with the law and 

advises and acts to protect the council; 

and the  

 Head of Democratic Services who 

ensures that members and committees 

are provided with appropriate resources 

and support. S/he will also provide 

policy advice to the democratic services 

committee.  

Some officer posts are politically restricted 

under legislation. This means that these 

people are not allowed to have any active 

political role either in or outside the 

workplace. These are the Head of Paid 

Service, the statutory chief officers, deputy 

chief officers (officers reporting to a chief 

officer excluding secretarial/clerical support 

staff) the Monitoring Officer, officers 

exercising delegated powers, assistants to 

political groups and any officer who is 

responsible for giving advice on a regular 

basis to members, committees or the 

authority.  

 

Officers have a duty to give unbiased advice. 

You will need to bear in mind that this advice 

is given from a professional standpoint and 

designed to help you take appropriate 

decisions and actions.  

 

It is important to establish positive 

professional relationships with officers so that 

you can work in partnership to turn policies 

into action for the benefit of the public.  

 

Council Staff  

Councils are major employers in Wales and 

employ some 140K employees (100K full time 

equivalents). This has reduced significantly 

due to budgetary pressures in recent years. 

10. Working with Officers 

Page 86



 

 
 

Most of the workforce will live as well as 

work within the county borough boundary 

and they and their families will receive as 

well as provide services. 

 

Councils have a duty of care to their 

employees. Councils employ staff as 

corporate bodies with councillors being 

ultimately accountable for their welfare. 

There is a raft of employment legislation 

aimed at protecting employees and ensuring 

equality for all staff. It is important that any 

decision made by the council considers the 

impact on the workforce. Councils should 

ensure that there is an effective human 

resource strategy in place which relates to 

the various strategies and plans adopted by 

the council. The strategy should consider 

how it will recruit, train, retain, develop and 

reward the workforce.  

 

Pay and Conditions of Service  

Most councils operate the nationally agreed 

terms and conditions of employment for local 

government and the nationally agreed pay 

scales and pay settlement. However, councils 

can determine and vary their own terms and 

conditions e.g. flexible working hours and 

leave policies. Pay deals are generally settled 

at a national level but all councils are 

consulted before any agreements are 

reached.  

 

Page 87



 

52      A Guide for New Councillors in Wales  
 

Improvement Plans and Performance 

Reports 

Each year, councils in Wales produce 

many plans and performance reports, 

both for management purposes and to 

report to the public on their objectives 

and performance. Each council 

publishes a Corporate Plan that sets 

out their longer term corporate vision 

i.e. what they will do, how they will do 

it, and how they will monitor progress. 

Councils must set compare and publish 

performance information and produce 

annual performance reports. 

 

Your council’s performance indicators and 

reports will be a key source of information 

for you as a councillor, whether in a cabinet 

or scrutiny role, to measure and monitor 

performance in priority areas and to judge 

whether your council is on track to meet 

objectives and outcomes.  

 

My Local Council www.mylocalcouncil.info/  

is a website designed with councillors and 

the public in mind and provides all the key 

performance data for your and all councils 

across Wales. It allows you to compare your 

council’s performance with other councils 

and includes all published audit, inspection 

and performance annual reports about your 

authority. 

From 2017, councils must set and publish 

Well-being Objectives, to take reasonable 

steps to meet these and to publish an 

annual report on the progress they are 

making. It is expected that the statement of 

objectives will be incorporated into a local 

authority’s Corporate Plan and that, 

similarly, the annual progress report will be 

part of a wider Annual Report (and not a 

separate document). The first set of Well-

being Objectives were published by 31st 

March 2017 and will be reviewed annually. 

 

Directors of Social Services have a statutory 

duty to publish an annual report on social 

services performance. 

 

Wales Audit Office (WAO) 

The WAO works with the Auditor General 

for Wales who is the public services 

‘watchdog’. The WAO audits the financial 

accounts of councils, reports on how 

services are being delivered, assesses 

whether value for money is being achieved 

and checks how they are planning and 

delivering improvements. 

 

The WAO produces Annual Improvement 

Reports for each council which comment on 

their governance, improvement and 

performance planning and reporting 

11. Improvement, Performance   

and Regulation 

Page 88

http://www.mylocalcouncil.info/
http://www.wao.gov.uk/


 

 
 

arrangements. 

 

Social Care Wales 

Social Care Wales is responsible for 

leading work to improve care and support 

for people in Wales. This new organisation 

was formed in 2017 from the Care Council 

for Wales and the Social Services 

Improvement Agency and is building on 

their work as well as taking on new 

functions. Social Care Wales provides 

workforce support, sets standards to 

protect the public, leads on improvement 

and provides research and information.  

 

Care and Social Services Inspectorate 

Wales (CSSIW) 

The CSSIW is responsible for regulating 

and inspecting social care and social 

services to make sure that they are safe for 

the people who use them. They provide 

independent assurance about the quality 

and availability of services such as care 

homes, nurseries, fostering and adoption 

agencies, residential special schools and 

further education colleges accommodating 

students under 18.  

 

Estyn also inspect local social services in 

local authorities using a methodology based 

on the quality standards required by the 

Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 

2014 (SSWBA):  

 

The Social Services and Well-being (Wales) 

Act came into force from April 2016. It is 

the new legal framework that brings 

together and modernises social services 

law. The Act imposes duties on local 

authorities, health boards and Welsh 

Ministers that require them to work to 

promote the well-being of those who need 

care and support, or carers who need 

support. 

 

Estyn 

Estyn inspects quality and standards in 

education and training providers in Wales. It 

currently inspects each councils’ education 

services for children and young people on a 

six-yearly cycle. Estyn also inspects schools 

and other education and training providers 

in Wales at least once within a six-year 

period.  

 

Education in Wales is changing. The Welsh 

Government is updating the curriculum and 

introducing a digital competence framework.  

There will also be some changes in 

inspection from September 2017 for 

example: 

 

 the notice period for inspections will be 

reduced to 15 days; 

 inspections will typically take 4 days 

rather than 5; and 

 they will focus on 5 inspection areas; 

standards; wellbeing and attitudes to 

learning; teaching and learning 

experiences; care, support and 

guidance; and leadership. 

 

 

 
 

Page 89

http://cssiw.org.uk/splash?orig=/
http://www.estyn.gov.wales/


 

54      A Guide for New Councillors in Wales  
 

As a councillor, you will be provided 

with a range of support and 

information. There are dedicated 

officers providing support to members, 

covering advisory, administrative, 

committee, casework and research 

services. In addition to this there are 2 

key statutory posts.  

 

The Head of Democratic Services  

The Head of Democratic Services will ensure 

that the authority and individual non-

executive members receive support with the 

following:  

 

 Committee and meetings support; 

 member support and services; and 

 scrutiny support 

 

The Monitoring Officer  

Every principal authority in Wales (county 

councils and county borough councils) must 

appoint a Monitoring Officer. The Monitoring 

Officer is responsible for maintaining ethical 

standards and advising and training 

councillors on the Code of Conduct. The 

Monitoring Officer also supports the work of 

the council’s standards committee and is 

responsible for advising and training 

community and town council members on 

the Code of Conduct. In effect, the 

Monitoring Officer, in partnership with the 

standards committee is the primary source 

of advice and guidance for both councillors 

and officers on ethical and standards issues 

and the operation of the Code of Conduct.  

 

If you are affiliated to a political party then 

you will have access to policy, advisory and 

research services, national advisors and in 

party briefing sessions and networks.  

 

If you are employed, your employer may be 

able to support you with time off for council 

duties and a flexible arrangement for you to 

maintain a council­ work life balance.  

 

Salaries  

As a councillor, you will be entitled to receive 

a salary in return for the contribution that 

you make. There is a basic salary for all 

members and an additional senior salary for 

councillors who undertake specific 

responsibilities, such as executive/cabinet 

members or committee chairs. The 

maximum that can be paid as a basic salary 

is calculated annually and nationally by the 

Independent Remuneration Panel as £13,400 

in 2017/18. The amount of the senior salary 

depends upon the size of your authority. In 

addition to your salary you will also be 

entitled to claim allowances for travelling and 

12. Support for Councillors 

Page 90



 

 
 

subsistence and reimbursement for costs of 

care if you look after, for example, children 

or an older person. Councillors are also 

entitled to paid family absence and, from 

2017 onwards, for senior salary holders, paid 

sickness absence. The council is required to 

publish the details of the salary you receive.  

 

Annual Reports  

Local authorities have a duty (following the 

Local Government Measure 2011) to ‘make 

arrangements’ for councillors to make an 

annual report about their activities as a 

councillor during the year. This is not a duty 

on councillors to produce an annual report, 

although many do and some councils expect 

their councillors to produce an annual report.  

  

Development and Training for 

Councillors  

Every councillor, regardless of their role or 

experience, will need some training and 

development. If you do not fully understand 

your role and the policy and legislative 

framework that underpins it, you will be 

putting your council at risk. It is your 

responsibility to make sure that the council 

(through the democratic services committee) 

provides this for you. Your council has a legal 

duty to provide you with an opportunity to 

discuss your training and support needs and 

provide the appropriate development.  Many 

councils provide this through personal 

development review schemes. Generally, you 

should be provided with:  

 

 induction training; 

 a role description; 

 an opportunity to be mentored; 

 an opportunity to talk about the training 

you would find useful; 

 continuing training for specific council 

roles; and 

 briefings and updates in policy and 

legislation. 

 

E learning specifically for councillors is 

available on the All Wales Academy on the 

Learning Wales website here https://

learning.wales.nhs.uk/.  

 

Check your skills 

Here is a list of the skills that are generally 

accepted to be required by all members. If 

you need help with any of these after your 

induction, officers will arrange this for you.  

Page 91

https://learning.wales.nhs.uk/
https://learning.wales.nhs.uk/


 

56      A Guide for New Councillors in Wales  
 

Requirement  Knowledge  

and Skills  

Effective  

Behaviours  

Understanding of the 
role of the councillor 

The extent and limits of 
a councillor’s individual 
responsibilities and the 
powers and 
responsibilities required 
to undertake corporate 
governance. 
 
Also corporate 
responsibilities such as 
corporate parenting 
and safeguarding 
children and vulnerable 
adults. 

Undertakes their role effectively in the 
council, the community and with 
partner agencies. 
 
Understands when it is and is not 
appropriate to act for the electoral 
division or in the interests of the area as 
a whole. 
 
Acts proactively to deliver outcomes. 
 
Ensures that both the authority’s 
corporate responsibilities and the 
member’s personal role are undertaken 
in for example protecting children and 
vulnerable adults and supporting looked 
after children. 

Understanding the 
role of the local 
authority 

Understanding of the 
services delivered, both 
statutory and 
discretionary and the 
policies, procedures, 
plans and strategies 
which underpin them. 

Is able to describe the work of the 
council to the public and where these 
responsibilities lie with other agencies 
such as community and town councils, 
voluntary sector or the Welsh 
Government.  
 
Contributes to the development of 
council plans and strategies and takes 
decisions in the light of these. 

Conduct Understanding of the 
ethical framework 
governing the work of 
councillors, specifically 
the Code of Conduct.  
 
Understanding of the 
role of the Monitoring 
Officer. 
 
Appreciation of the 
importance of 
accountability, integrity 
and transparency for 
good governance. 

Abides by the Code of Conduct at all 
times. 
 
Always declares and defines interests 
when appropriate. 
 
Seeks advice from the monitoring 
officer when appropriate. 
 
Treats others with respect in all 
settings. 
 
Demonstrates integrity. 
 
Values others. 
 
Listens. 
 
Stays calm in difficult situations. 
 Page 92



 

 
 

Requirement  Knowledge  

and Skills  

Effective  

Behaviours  

Equalities and 
respect 

Personal skills in 
demonstrating respect 
for others regardless of 
sex, race, religion, age, 
disability, gender 
reassignment, marriage 
and civil partnership, 
pregnancy and 
maternity or sexual 
orientation. 
 
Understanding 
equalities and diversity 
law relating to the work 
of the council and the 
role of the councillor. 
Understanding of the 
need for and what 
constitutes respectful 
behaviour towards 
others.  

Demonstrates equalities values in 
personal behaviour and council 
decisions. Applies appropriate equalities 
legislation and demonstrates equalities 
values in personal behaviour and 
council decisions. 
 
Treats everyone with respect at all 
times when acting as a councillor 
whether in the council, community, or 
political group. 
  

Balancing council 
and community 
expectations and 
responsibilities 
  

Understanding of the 
distinct responsibilities 
of a councillor as a 
member of a corporate 
body and as a 
representative of an 
electoral division or 
community. 

Takes decisions relating to the 
corporate body or electoral division 
ethically. 
 
Manages both community and council 
expectations through effective 
communication. 

Audit, Inspection 
and Regulation 

An understanding of 
the role of the Audit 
Inspection and 
Regulatory bodies and 
associated council 
processes. 

Engages effectively with the audit, 
inspection and regulatory process within 
the council, using this information to 
constructively challenge and support the 
affected services. 

Balancing personal 
commitments 

An understanding of 
time management 
principals including 
prioritisation and 
delegation. 

Maintains an effective work/life balance, 
managing the time available to 
concentrate on the issues with the most 
significant outcomes. 

Page 93



 

58      A Guide for New Councillors in Wales  
 

Requirement  Knowledge  

and Skills  

Effective  

Behaviours  

Information 
Management 

Understanding and 
interpreting information 
and data. 
 

Ability to handle data in 
the format provided by 
the council. 
 
Understanding of the 
definition of 
confidentiality and how 
to handle confidential 
information. 
 
Understanding of the 
legal requirements of 
Data Protection and 
Freedom of Information 
legislation. 

Receives information and data from a 
variety of sources and is able to store 
share and use it effectively and where 
possible electronically. 
 
Does not keep records about people 
without seeking their agreement. 
 
Responds promptly and appropriately to 
FOI requests. 
 

Does not distribute or share confidential 
or restricted information. 

Using ICT and social 
media 

Skills in all ‘Office’ 
applications such as 
word processing, 
presentation and 
spreadsheets. And 
communication and 
social media 
applications including 
email, tweeting, 
blogging and personal 
website management. 

Conducts council business electronically. 
Communicates with the community 
electronically and through social media 
where appropriate. 
 
Maintains an effective, positive and 
ethical online presence. 
  

Meeting preparation 
and participation 

Understanding of the 
Standing Orders, any 
protocols and rules of 
debate. 
 

Skills in public 
speaking, debating and 
asking questions. 
  
  
  

Prepares effectively for meetings by 
reading papers and analysing data. 
Undertakes personal research and 
participates in any pre meetings. 
 

Contributes to positive meeting 
outcomes by seeking tangible decisions 
or actions. 
 
Effectively contributes to meetings 
making points clearly and succinctly. 
Remains focussed on the business in 
hand. 
 
Understands and applies meeting ‘rules’. 
Seeks guidance from officers and group 
leaders before meetings as appropriate. Page 94



 

 
 

Requirement  Knowledge  

and Skills  

Effective  

Behaviours  

Working with the 
media 

Skills in building 
relationships with the 
media and being 
interviewed on TV, 
radio and for the press 
and online media. 
  

Is a recognised source of credible 
information for the media. Speaks 
confidently, authoritatively and 
appropriately in interviews. Enhances 
the reputation of the council when 
appearing on screen or in print. 

Self-promotion The ability to develop a 
profile in the 
community through 
local activities and 
effective 
communication and 
consultation. 

Writes an annual report on 
achievements and activities. 
Is highly visible in the community. 
Maintains a high standard in both 
personal reputation and that of the 
council. 

Working with 
officers 

Understanding the role 
of officers generally 
and the ‘rules’ they 
need to abide by 
including a deeper 
understanding of the 
role of senior officers 
such as the Chief 
Executive, Senior 
Management team, 
Monitoring Officer and 
Heads of Finance, Legal  
and Democratic 
Services. 
 
Skills in acting as a 
corporate employer. 
Understanding of the 
appointments process 
and interviewing skills. 

Maintains professional relationships with 
officers, recognising appropriate 
boundaries and abiding by the Member 
Officer Protocol. 
 
Acts as an effective member of an 
appointment panel, applying sound HR 
and equality and diversity principles to 
secure the best candidate. 

Health and safety Understanding of 
Health and Safety 
legislation in the work 
of the council. 
Understand how to 
assess risks and ensure 
personal safety and 
that of others. 

Promotes and ensures the health and 
safety of everyone in the council. 
Ensures personal safety when working 
in the council and when in groups or 
alone in the community. 

Page 95



 

60      A Guide for New Councillors in Wales  
 

Requirement  Knowledge  

and Skills  

Effective  

Behaviours  

Continuing 
professional and 
personal 
development 

Ability to identify 
personal  development 
needs and to 
participate in 
development activities. 

Undertakes regular personal 
development reviews taking account of 
role descriptions and competency 
frameworks.  
 
Takes responsibility for developing 
personal skills and knowledge, attends 
learning and development activities 
seeking tangible outcomes. 

Financial capability Understanding of the 
way councils and 
services are funded. 
 
Understanding and 
skills in budget setting. 
Personal financial 
capability. 
 
Understanding the 
impact of Welfare 
Reform and the 
austerity agenda. 

Engages effectively in the budget 
setting process. 
 
Is prepared to take hard, 
evidence-based decisions. 
 
Demonstrates skills in numeracy when 
interpreting data and asking questions. 
  

Interpersonal skills Self-awareness, and 
skills in self-
management, “good 
manners” Emotional 
Intelligence, listening, 
negotiation, conflict 
management and 
mediation skills. 

Acts in a professional and respectful 
manner to all people and in all places. 
Is self-aware and able to develop and 
manage relationships both within and 
outside the council. 
 
Brokers relationships and manages 
conflict in the community and council 
and between the two. 

Sustainable 
Development 

Understanding of issues 
that impact on future 
generations such as 
health and wellbeing, 
financial security and 
the environment. 

Takes decisions based upon the needs 
of future generations as well as the 
current population. 

Safeguarding Understanding of the 
legal requirements, and 
the responsibilities, 
placed on authorities 
and individual 
councillors to protect 
children and vulnerable 
adults at risk of abuse. 

Is vigilant and acts to make sure that 
children and vulnerable adults are 
protected from abuse, taking 
appropriate decisions and reporting 
instances appropriately. 

Page 96



 

 
 

Requirement  Knowledge  

and Skills  

Effective  

Behaviours  

Corporate Parenting Understanding of the 
role of the councillor as 
a Corporate Parent. 

Takes appropriate responsibility for the 
welfare of looked after children, actively 
seeking appropriate information on their 
situation and progress. 

Working with the 
community 

Knowledge of 
community groups and 
leaders. 
 
Understanding of 
community issues and 
concerns. 
 
Ability to seek the 
views of all relevant 
parties. 

Understands the needs of the local 
community and secures action from 
the council on behalf of local people. 
 
Communicates with the community, 
individuals and the council to ensure 
engagement and understanding of all 
parties. 

Consultation and 
engagement 

Understands the 
different levels of 
engagement ranging 
from communication to 
co-production set out in 
the national principals of 
engagement for Wales. 
http://participation.cymru/

en/principles/ 

Demonstrates positive outcomes as a 
result of effective engagement. 
  
Uses a range of communication and 
consultation tools such as Social Media 
to understand the needs and views of 
the community. 

Voluntary sector Understands the role 
and responsibilities of 
the voluntary sector in 
the area. 

Builds effective relationships with the 
voluntary sector and communicates 
and works with them when 
appropriate. 

Local issues Understands the issues 
of importance to people 
locally and throughout 
the council area. 
 
Knows which council 
plans will impact on 
local issues. 

Works with the community and the 
council to find solutions to local 
problems. 
 
Secures funding for local initiatives. 

Working with 
community and town 
councils 

Understanding of the 
responsibilities of 
community councils and 
their forward work 
programmes. 

Works with community councils to 
deliver outcomes for the community. 
Fosters positive relations and active 
communication with the community 
council and the Clerk. 

Page 97

http://participation.cymru/en/principles/
http://participation.cymru/en/principles/


 

62      A Guide for New Councillors in Wales  
 

Requirement  Knowledge  

and Skills  

Effective  

Behaviours  

Being accessible to the 
public 

Understanding of and 
ability to arrange and 
publicise opportunities to 
discuss casework with the 
public. 
  

Makes themselves available through the 
most appropriate means to connect with 
the greatest number of people.  
 
Uses surgeries, street surgeries, informal 
settings, home and social media as 
appropriate. Promises only that which 
can be delivered. 

Managing casework Ability to use case 
management techniques 
and software and to 
monitor and communicate 
progress. 
  
 

Keeps the people on whose behalf they 
are working informed of progress. 
Monitors progress of cases after they 
have been referred to officers or other 
agencies. 
 
Uses the established referral schemes 
within the council. 

Signposting Knowledge of sources of 
information and advice 
within and outside the 
council. 

Makes links between members of the 
public and the appropriate source of help 
in the council or in the community. 

Work on outside bodies Understanding of the role 
of the outside body. 
 
Understanding of the role 
of the councillor on the 
outside body whether as a 
council representative, 
locality representative, or 
as an individual. 

Reports to and from the council and 
outside body as appropriate. 
  
Represents the views of the council, 
personal views, or that of the community 
effectively and appropriately according to 
the setting. 
  
Members should engage in relevant 
briefing and training provided by outside 
bodies. 

Working as a Trustee 
on other organisations 

Understanding of the role 
of the organisation and 
your duties and 
responsibilities as a 
trustee. 
 
Understanding of the 
potential implications of 
conflict of interest arising 
in the dual role of trustee 
and councillor. 

Operates within the standards set in the 
Code of Conduct. 
 
Seeks advice from the Monitoring Officer 
as appropriate. 

Page 98



 

 
 

Requirement  Knowledge  

and Skills  

Effective  

Behaviours  

Working as a school 
governor 

Understanding of 
education policy and 
school organisation. 
  

Oversees the school performance. 
 
Challenges the school management as a 
critical friend. 
 
Takes part in governor training. 

Working as a member 
of a Community or 
Town Council 

Understanding of the role 
of the Community Council 
and its limits. 

Liaises effectively between the 
community council and unitary council, 
acting as a link and Council 
representative when appropriate. 
 
Takes part in community council training. 

Working as a Co-optee Understanding of the role 
and limits of the role of co
-optees on committees. 

Shares expertise with the committee 
impartially. 

Party policy Awareness of values and 
manifestos both nationally 
and locally. 

Effectively balances the requirements of 
people, party, group and council. 

Liaison with National 
Government, Welsh 
Government and the 
National Assembly for 
Wales 

Understanding of the 
functions of the Welsh 
Government and means of 
engagement. 

Liaises with local MPs and AMs. 
 
Brings local issues to the attention of the 
WG when appropriate. 

Group membership Rules and constituency 
group structure and 
policies. 

  

Page 99



 

64      A Guide for New Councillors in Wales  
 

The Welsh Local Government 

Association (WLGA) represents the 

interests of local government and 

promotes local democracy in Wales. 

Its primary purposes are to promote 

better local government, to promote 

its reputation and to support 

authorities in the development of 

policies and priorities which will 

improve public service and democracy. 

 

The WLGA is a politically led cross party 

organisation that seeks to give local 

government a strong voice at a national 

level. The Association is a membership 

organisation that represents all 22 local 

authorities in Wales, the 3 fire and rescue 

authorities and the 3 national park 

authorities as associate members. 

 

The WLGA believes that services are best 

provided within a democratic framework of 

local accountability and that the people who 

use public services should have as much of 

a say in the way they are organised, 

managed and funded as possible. Local 

government is the tier of government 

closest to service users and best able to 

respond to their needs. It is recognised that 

it is the role of central government to set 

the strategy for public services nationally 

but that it is down to local government to 

deliver services based on local 

circumstances.  

 

Originally established in 1996 primarily as a 

policy development and representative body, 

the WLGA has since developed into an 

organisation that also leads on improvement 

and development, procurement, employment 

issues and hosts a range of partner bodies 

supporting local government. The WLGA is 

funded by member authority subscriptions 

and by grants from the Welsh Government to 

deliver national programmes. 

 

The WLGA’s main decision-making bodies are 

the council – comprising 70 members 

proportionately representing the populations 

they serve – and the executive board – 

comprising the 22 council leaders.  The 

leader of the largest political group is 

appointed the WLGA Leader, however, the 

WLGA has traditionally sought to be politically 

balanced and operates on a basis of 

consensus, involving all political groups on 

the WLGA.  

 

Senior councillors are appointed as WLGA 

spokespeople covering key local government 

portfolio areas. These portfolio areas cover 

every aspect of local government service 

13. Welsh Local Government 

Association 

Page 100



 

 
 

ranging from finance, education and social 

services to libraries, leisure and 

archives. Being a WLGA spokesperson is a 

considerable responsibility, as they represent 

the whole of local government in discussions 

and negotiations with the Welsh Government, 

the UK Government and all other national 

partners in their service areas. The 

Association’s lobbying work is therefore 

extensive. 

 

The WLGA’s key areas of work include: 

 bilateral meetings between WLGA 

spokespersons and Cabinet Secretaries/

Ministers; 

 pre-and post-legislative scrutiny with 

the National Assembly for Wales, UK 

Parliament and the European 

Parliament; 

 policy development and joint working 

with the Welsh Government and UK 

Government; 

 engaging with the workforce unions and 

professional associations; 

 working with the various audit bodies 

and inspectorates in Wales; 

 providing improvement support 

including peer review and member 

development and training and 

promoting good practice; 

 arranging conferences, seminars, 

workshops and training events; 

 the publication of reports, guidance 

documents and on-line resources; and  

 communications, press work, and social 

media. 

 

Member support and development 

services from the WLGA.  

The WLGA works with all local authorities 

across Wales to help provide support to 

members by: 

 working strategically with the Welsh 

Government to ensure that the needs of 

members in are promoted; 

 providing guidance on request on all 

aspects of member support and 

development; 

 providing member and officer networks 

to facilitate collaboration and practice 

sharing in democratic and support 

services; 

 providing support and guidance materials 

such as model strategies, role 

descriptions, development frameworks 

and training modules; and 

 working with each authority to develop 

and deliver learning opportunities for 

councillors. 

 

The Wales Charter for Member Support 

and Development  

This is an award which has been developed by 

the WLGA and authorities to provide a guide, 

some impetus and recognition for authorities 

wishing to provide high standards of support 

for their members. Most councils have been 

successful in securing the first level of this 

award and have received or are working 

towards the advanced level. Some authorities 

have also been awarded a good practice and 

innovation award under the Charter. 

Page 101



 

66      A Guide for New Councillors in Wales  
 

 

Description Website 

All Wales Academy: E-learning resources for 
councillors.  

https://learning.wales.nhs.uk/. 

Data Unit Wales: Data, information and 
support for local authorities. 

http://www.dataunitwales.gov.uk/ 

Good Practice Wales: Single access online 
portal to Welsh public services good practice 
and knowledge. 

www.goodpracticewales.com/  

Independent Remuneration Panel for 
Wales: Salaries and allowances. 

www.wales.gov.uk/irpwsub/home/?
lang=en  

Information Commissioners Office: FOI 
and Data Protection. 

https://ico.org.uk/ 

Local Democracy and Boundary 
Commission Wales 

www.ldbc.gov.wales 

Local Government Association www.local.gov.uk/  

My Local Council: Single access online portal 
providing key performance data all councils 
across Wales. 

www.mylocalcouncil.info/ 

One Voice Wales: Organisation representing 
community and town councils.  

www.onevoicewales.org.uk/  

Planning Aid Wales www.planningaidwales.org.uk/  

Public Services Ombudsman Wales www.ombudsman-wales.org.uk/  

Welsh Government www.wales.gov.uk/?lang=en  

Welsh Local Government Association www.wlga.wales  

14. Further Information 

Page 102

https://learning.wales.nhs.uk/
http://www.dataunitwales.gov.uk/
http://www.goodpracticewales.com/
http://www.wales.gov.uk/irpwsub/home/?lang=en
http://www.wales.gov.uk/irpwsub/home/?lang=en
https://ico.org.uk/
http://www.ldbc.gov.wales
http://www.local.gov.uk/
http://www.mylocalcouncil.info/
http://www.onevoicewales.org.uk/
http://www.planningaidwales.org.uk/
http://www.ombudsman-wales.org.uk/
http://www.wales.gov.uk/?lang=en
http://www.wlga.wales


  
Working in a political environment 
20 February 2017 
 
 
Cllr Sarah Adams, LGA Member Peer and Deputy Leader of the 
Labour Group, Suffolk County Council 
Cllr Philip Corthorne, LGA Member Peer and Cabinet Member 
for Social Services, Housing, Health & Wellbeing, LB Hillingdon 
Kate Herbert, LGA Programme Manager 
 

P
age 103



Aims of today 
During the session you will: 
• Consider what councillors should expect from officers and 

vice versa. 
• Build awareness of protocols and guidance available to 

support strong working relationships. 
• Explore the behaviours and principles that build rapport 

with councillors and tactics available in different scenarios 
to strengthen influencing skill.  

• Consider how participants can apply this learning to their 
own roles. 
 

 
 

www.local.gov.uk 

P
age 104



Ground rules for today 

• ‘Chatham  House’  rule 
• Respect  others’  views 
• Phones on silent 
• Finish  when  we  say  we’ll  finish 
• What else? 

P
age 105



Introductions 

• Name? 
• Role? 
• How long have you worked in your field? 
• Experience of working in/ with local 

government? 
• Any particular questions/ issues to explore? 

P
age 106



Mee Mee Baa Baa 

P
age 107



Different models of governance 
• Leader & Cabinet model 
• Elected mayor model 
• Committee system 
• Majority vs no overall control 
 
 
• Statutory services – councils must provide 
• Regulatory services – councils must provide 
• Discretionary services – councils may choose 

to provide 
 

Types of services 
 

P
age 108



Different types of councillors 
 

• Councillors/ Members 
• Mayor/ Council Chairman/ Chair 
• Leader / Mayor 
• Group Leader 
• Opposition councillor 
• Cabinet member/ portfolio holder/ executive member 
• Ward / backbench / non-executive councillor 
• Chairperson/ Chair 

 
 
 
 

P
age 109



 
 
 
 
 

Council 

Reminder – how do councils work? 

Scrutiny 
Committee(s) 

Cabinet 

Other 
 Committees 

Officers 

P
age 110



The  councillor’s  role 

Overview  
and Scrutiny 

Community leadership and engagement  

Policy and strategy development 

Representing  
the ward 

Negotiating 
support/ Advocacy 

Signposting Understanding  
the ward 

Decision-making Regulatory duties P
age 111



Councillors and Officers 

Councillors and officers have a collective corporate 
responsibility.  But aspects of their roles are distinctly 
different.  

– Councillors set the strategic direction and agree the policy 
framework of the council 

– Officers  are  responsible  for  delivering  the  council’s  policies  
and for the day-to-day operation of the organisation 

‘Councillor-led,  Officer  run’ 

P
age 112



Two Dimensional Political Management 

Ideas 
Support 

Representation 
Problem solving 

Monitoring 

members officers 

P
age 113



Three Dimensional Political Management 

  

    

Representation 
Problem solving 

Support 
Ideas 

Monitoring 

public 

members officers 

customer citizen 

P
age 114



Administration and delivery must be achieved in 
a  democratic  context… 
– involving members 
– subject to politics and the electoral process 
– leadership has to be developed afresh 
– requires active work by both Members and Officers 
– Community leadership about more than services 
– Regulatory and standards bodies, statutory and 

strategic responsibilities  

Local government is unique due to 
the democratic context 

P
age 115



How do HWBs fit in? 

• Health and Social Care Act 2012  - established 
HWBs  

• Expectation that  they  will  act  as  ‘system  leaders’ 
• Committees of the council, but unlike any other 

council committee  
• Partnerships of the key players in the local health 

and care system who work together to improve the 
health and wellbeing of their local population and 
reduce health inequalities. 

P
age 116



What makes 
councillors tick? 

P
age 117



Policy 

Balancing competing demands & 
interests 

Self 

Values 

Beliefs 

Friends 

Party Group 

Image 

Cost / 
VFM 

Risk 

Priority 

Timing 

Impact 

Benefits 
Leader 

Electorate 

Senior 
officers 

Media 

Partner 

Colleagues 

Manifesto 

Resources 

Family 

Religion 

Opinion 
polls 

Professional 
officer reports 

Community 
leaders 

Pressure 
groups 

Past 
experience 

Staff 

Current events 

Me 
(Councillor) 

P
age 118



   

   
 

What do you expect from 
councillors? 

P
age 119



What do YOU expect of councillors? 

• Political leadership and direction 
• A working partnership based on mutual respect 
• Not to get involved in the operational 

management of the authority 
• Not to use influence or pressure to gain special 

treatment for themselves or others 
• An understanding of the need for work/ life 

balance 

P
age 120



What do councillors expect of you? 

P
age 121



What do councillors expect of you? 
• A commitment to the authority/locality as a whole, 

and not to an individual political group 
• A working partnership based on mutual respect 
• A timely response to enquiries and complaints 
• Professional advice, not influenced by political 

views or preference 
• Integrity, mutual support and appropriate 

confidentiality 
• If  in  doubt,  you  can  seek  advice  of  the  Council’s  

Monitoring Officer 

P
age 122



Building rapport with members 
• Create good impressions through your body 

language, demeanour and mannerisms 
• Listen actively: encourage members to talk 

through  ‘active  listening’   
• Ask open and searching questions to probe, test 

and challenge members – get to the nub of the 
issue 

 
Building rapport is often about personal 
chemistry – but none of us can hope to 

influence all other people 

P
age 123



Exercise 
 

What would you do if ...? 
 

Scenario set 1 

P
age 124



How are decisions made - formally 

Cabinet 

Council 

DMT 

Idea 

CMT 

Call in by O&S 

Pre-decision scrutiny 

HWB? 

Public 
consultation? 

Leader’s  Strategy  Group 

P
age 125



How are decisions made - informally 

Cabinet 

Council 

DMT 

Idea 

CMT 

Call in by O&S 

Pre-decision scrutiny 

Leader’s  Strategy  Group 

Chats with 
Directors/ ADs 

Other 
DMTs 

Engage wider 
majority group 

Engage PH Discuss 
w/ CEX Brief O&S 

Chair 
Engage 
Leader 

Engage 
other 

groups 

Engage 
partners Engage 

staff 

Ward 
Councillors 

P
age 126



• Energy and enthusiasm 
• An ability to be flexible and adaptable to different 

people and situations 
• Strong listening and observation skills 
• An ability to act impartially or with neutrality  
• Self confidence and gravitas 
• Think about timing and setting of conversation 

 
 

 

Characteristics of good influencing 
skills 

P
age 127



Give your ideas a solid landing 
• Support the member-led  ‘culture  of  accountability’ 
• Think  strategically  and  recognise  the  ‘big picture’ 
• Present thoughts, ideas and arguments clearly and 

succinctly 
• Avoid,  or  at  least  translate,  ‘Health  speak’  (and  

challenge  ‘council  speak’!) 
• Avoid certain behaviours, e.g. irritators, defend/ attack 

spirals 
• Do your homework and be prepared 
• Use language which will help gain support 
• Be tactical: Is this the right time, place, approach? 

P
age 128



Influencing in difficult situations 
• Preparation is key 
• Be yourself – no defensiveness/ hidden agendas 
• Listen first and talk second – understand and 

address their concerns 
• Maintain your assertiveness  …  appropriately 
• Share your experiences & feelings to establish 

empathy 
• Explore options together – is there another option 

to achieve the desired outcome? 
• Keep people and problems separate 

 

P
age 129



Exercise 
 

Making the case 
 

Scenario set 2 

P
age 130



Tips for effective working 
Do be: 
• Impartial 

• Professional 

• Authoritative 

• Respectful 

• Sensitive 

• Positive 

• Communicative 

• Discreet 

• Reliable 

• Friendly 

Don’t  be: 
• Unhelpful 

• Jargonistic 

• Arrogant 

• Deferential 

• Subservient 

• Imprudent 

• Indiscriminate 

• Evasive 

• Reliant 

• Friends 

P
age 131



Reflections 
 

What might you do differently  
after today? 

 
Any issues raised today to  

follow up locally? 

P
age 132



 
 
 
Kate Herbert 
Local Government Support Programme 
Manager – London and the South East 
07867 632404 
kate.herbert@local.gov.uk 

 

P
age 133

mailto:kate.herbert@local.gov.uk


T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

FLINTSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL – STANDARDS COMMITTEE – FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME 2019/20 
 

Date of Meeting 
 

Topic Notes/Decision/Action 

29 June 2020 
 

 Training 

 Dispensations 
 

 

1 June 2020  Training 

 Dispensations 

 Protocol for Members in their dealings with 
contractors/developers. 

 Members Code of Conduct 
 

 
 
 

27 April 2020 
 

 Training 

 Dispensations 
 

 

30 March 2020 
 
 

 Training 

 Dispensations 

 
 
 

2 March 2020  Training 

 Dispensations 
 

 
 
 

3 February 2020  Training 

 Dispensations 
 

 
 
 

6 January 2020  Training 

 Dispensations 

 Confidential Reporting Procedure 
 

 
 

P
age 135

A
genda Item

 9



 

2 December 
2019 

 Training 

 Dispensations 

 Protocol on Member/Officer relations 

 Overview of All Visits to Town and 
Community Councils – final report 
 

 

4 November 
2019 
 

 Training 

 Dispensations 

 Annual Report of the Adjudication Panel for 
Wales 

 Liaison with the Council on Ethical Issues 
 

 
 
Report by Matt Georgiou 
 
Report by Gareth Owens 

30 September 
2019 
Joint Meeting 
with T&CC 
 

 Training 

 Dispensations 

 Town and Community Council Visits by 
Independent Members 

 Overview of All Visits to Town and 
Community Councils 

 The Role of a Councillor 

 Items raised by Town and Community 
Councils 

 

 
 
Verbal Update 

 

Report by Gareth Owens 
  

Report by Robert Robins/Gareth Owens 

 

2 September 
2019 
 

  Dispensations 

 Town and Community Council Visits by 
Independent Members 

 Review of the Flintshire Standard 

 Feedback from the North and Mid Wales 
Standards Forum 

 Update on Community Asset Transfers 

 
Verbal update 
Report by Gareth Owens 
Report by Gareth Owens/Matt Georgiou 
 
Report by Gareth Owens  

Report by Matt Georgiou 

P
age 136



 PSOW Code of Conduct Casebook Issue 20 
(Jan 19 – March 19) 
 

 

To be scheduled –  

Information on the dispensations process at Gwynedd Council and Wrexham County Borough Council. 

Item to consider the frequency of reporting on the Overview of Ethical Complaints. 

Code of Conduct complaints in Flintshire. 

 

 

P
age 137



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	7 Feedback from the Independent Members’ Visits to Town and Community Councils
	Enc. 1 for Feedback from the Independent Members’ Visits to Town and Community Councils

	8 The role of a Councillor
	Appendix 1 A Guide for New Councillors in Wales
	Enc. 1 for The role of a Councillor

	9 Forward Work Programme



